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IN THEUNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES )
TRADING COMMISSION, )
)
Raintiff, )
) N0.15-CV-9196
V. )
) Hon Amy J.St.Eve
IGOR B. OYSTACHER and )
3 RED TRADING LLC, )
)
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

AMY J. ST. EVE, District Court Judge:

Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Tradj Commission (the “CFTC”) has moved the
Court to enjoin Defendants Igor B. Oystacfi@ystacher”) and 3Red Trading, LLC (“3Red”)
(collectively, “Defendants”) from committing further violations of the Commaodities Exchange
Act and to bar Oystacher from trading certe@mmodity futures. [20]. Defendants object,
arguing that the CFTC has failedrtweet its burden under applicatdgv. [90]. The Court held
an eight-day preliminary injution hearing. After considerirgl of the evidence, including
witness testimony, expert reports, and exhilits,Court denies theFTC’s motion for the
reasons discussed in detail below. The Cdwniyever, imposes the restions set forth in
detail below on Defendants.

BACKGROUND

The CFTC is an independent federgulatory agency that is responsible for

administering and enforcing, part, Section 747 of the Dodétank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and a$ated regulations under 17 C.F.R. 88tkeq (2014).
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(R. 1, Complaint, at § 11.) Igor B. Oystackethe founder, Presiht, and Chief Executive
Officer of 3Red Trading LLC, a proprietafigures trading company incorporated under
Delaware law and located @hicago, Illinois. Id. at 1 12—-13.) Oystacher is 3Red’s principal
trader and was its principal and majotyner during the releve time period. 1¢.)
l. The CFTC’s Claims Against Defendants

The CFTC asserts that from Decemb@t 1 through at least February 2016, Defendants
“intentionally and repeatedly engaged in anipalative and deceptiveoofing scheme while
placing orders for and trading futures contracts on multiple registered entitigésat § 2.)
Specifically, the CFTC alleges that Defenddntanually plac[ed] large (at least doubling the
number of contracts offered ordoat those price levelsr better) passive der(s) on one side of
the market at or near the best bid or offecgyrwhich were intended to be canceled before
execution.” [d. at § 3.) To complete the schemefddelants would then “cancel or attempt to
cancel all of the spoof order(s) before theyevexecuted and virtually simultaneously ‘flip’
their position from buy to sell (or vice versa) fdgcing at least one aggsave order on the other
side of the market at the samebetter price to trade with makparticipants that had been
induced to enter the market by th@sporders they just canceled.ld() Ultimately, the CFTC

alleges that Defendants’ “scheme created theaamce of false markdéepth that Defendants
exploited to benefit their own intests, while harming other . participants” across a number of
markets in violation of Sections 4c(a)(5)(C) and 6(c)(1) of the Commodities Exchange Act (the
“CEA”), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6¢(a)(5)(C) & 9(12012), and CFTC Regulation 180.1 (the “CFTC

Regulation”), 17 C.F.R. §180.1 (2014)d.(at 11 2, 6.)



In 2010, Section 747 of the Dodd-Frank Wale®t Reform and Consumer Protection
Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2@0¢nded Section 4c(a)(5)(C) of the
CEA, entitled “Disruptive Practices,” to provide, in relevant part, as follows:

(5) It shall be unlawful for any persém engage in any trading, practice, or
conduct on or subject the rules of a registered entity that —

(C) Is, is of the character of, orasmmonly known to the trade as, “spoofing”
(bidding or offering withthe intent to cancel tha&d or offer before the
execution).
7 U.S.C. 8 6¢(a)(5)(C). According to 2013 CFihgrpretive guidance, ] section 4c(a)(5)(C)
violation occurs when the tradeids or offers with the interib cancel a bid or offer before
execution.” Interpretative Guidance and Policya&ment on Disruptive Practices

Commodities Futures Trading Commission, a\&ilable at

http://www.cftc.qov/idc/groups/public/ @newsm/documents/file/dipterpretiveorder ga.pdf

(last visited July 12, 2016). Further, in W2013, the CFTC provided the following additional
“[interpretive guidance and policstatement[s]” regaing, in relevant part, “spoofing” under
CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C):

The Commission interprets a CEA seatéc(a)(5)(C) violation as requiring a
market participant to act with some degree of intergcmnter beyond
recklessness to engage in the “spogfitrading practiceprohibited by CEA
section 4c(a)(5)(C). Because CEA sewatiic(a)(5)(C) requires that a person
intend to cancel a bid or offerfioee execution, the Commission does not
interpret reckless trading, practices,conduct as constituting a “spoofing”
violation. Additionally, the Commissionterprets that a spoofing violation will
not occur when the person’s intentevhcancelling a bid or offer before
execution was to cancel such a bid theioas part of a legitimate, good-faith
attempt to consummate a trade. Thus, the commission interprets the statute to
mean that a legitimate, good-faith catatbn or modification of orders (e.g.,
partially filled orders oproperly placed stop-logsders) would not violate
section CEA [sic] 4c(a)(5)(C). However, the Commission does not interpret a
partial fill as automatically exemptdim being classified as “spoofing” and
violating CEA setion 4c(a)(5)(C).



When distinguishing between legitimatadmng (such as trading involving partial
executions) and “spoofing,” the Commissiatends to evaluate the market
context, the person’s pattern of activitycluding fill characteristics), and other
relevant facts and circumstances. Faregle, if a person’smtent when placing

a bid or offer was to cancel the entiid or offer prior to execution and not
attempt to consummate a legitimate tradgardless of whether such bid or offer
was subsequently partially filled, that conduct may violate CEA section
4c(a)(5)(C).

The Commission interprets and intendspply CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C) as
covering bid and offer activity on all prodsdraded on all registered entities,
including [designated contract markeasid [swap execution facilities]. The
Commission further interprets CEA sexti4c(a)(5)(C) to include all bids and
offers in pre-open periods or during otleechange-controlled trading halts. As
noted earlier, the Commission does imb¢rpret CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C) as
restricting “spoofing” violations to &ding platforms and venues only having
order book functionality. “Spoofing” mgyossibly occur on any trading platform
or venue where a market participant hasahility to eithea) send executable
bids and offers to market participaoits(b) transact agast resting orders.

The Commission provides foaon-exclusive examples pbssible situations for
when market participants are engagetspoofing” behavior, including: (i)
submitting or cancelling bids or offets overload the quotation system of a
registered entity, (ii) submitting or caniied bids or offers to delay another
person’s execution of trades, (iii) submitting or cancelling multiple bids or offers
to create an appearance of false madiegith, and (iv) subitting or cancelling

bids or offers with intent to creagetificial price novements upwards or
downwards. The Commission also daesintend to pply the “spoofing”

provision as covering market communioat such as authorized pre-trade
communications.

As with other intent-based violationthe Commission intends to distinguish
between legitimate trading and “spoofingy evaluating all of the facts and
circumstances of each particular caseluding a person’s trading practices and
patterns. The Commission does naéipret a CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C)
violations as requiring a pattern oftiity; the Commission interprets CEA
section 4c(a)(5)(C) such that even a serigktance of trading activity can violate
CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C), provided thhe activity is conducted with the
prohibited intent.

Antidisruptive Practices Authoyit 78 Fed. Reg. 31890, 31896 (May 28, 20dwilable at

http://www.cftc.qgov/idc/groups/public/ @Irfederalreqister/downts/file/2013-12365a.pdf




On July 14, 2011, the CFTC adopted CFHR€yulation 180.1(a)(1) pursuant to the
CFTC'’s expanded anti-fraud and anti-mangtign authority undere&ttion 753 of the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 8ctiobn Act of 2010, Pub. L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat.
1376 (2010). CFTC Regulatid®0.1(a)(1) provides, in levant part, as follows:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person, dite/ or indirectly,in connection with

any swap, or contract of sale of asgmmodity in interstate commerce, or
contract for future delivery on or subjeotthe rules ofay registered entity,

to intentionally or recklessly:

(1) Use or employ, or attempt to use or employ, any manipulative device,
scheme, or artifice to defraud|.]

17 C.F.R. § 180.1(a)(13ee also CFTC v. Kraft Foods Group, InCase No. 15 C 2881,
2015 WL 9259885, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Ded8, 2015) (“In publishing Regulation 180.1, the
CFTC explained that ‘Final Rule 180.1 proisbiraud and fraud-Is&d manipulations.™)

(citing Final Rule 76 Fed. Reg. at 41,400; 17 C.F.R. § 180.1).

According to the CFTC, Defendants “engdge manipulative or deceptive trading
strategies that spoofed variansarkets while placing orders for, and trading futures contracts
through, accounts owned by [Defendants] duriregridevant period[.]” (R.1 at 1 52.) The
CFTC contends that Defendants engagedeasdtillegal trading schemes in the following
markets: the Commodity Exchange, Inc.’€0OMEX") High Grade Copper Futures Contracts
market (the “Copper market”) in Decenmi2911, the New York Mercantile Exchange’s
(“NYMEX") Light Sweet Crude OilFutures Contracts market (tf@rude Oil market”) in May
2012, the NYMEX'’s Henry Hub Natural Gas Futsi@ontracts market (the “Natural Gas
market”) in November and December 2012, Enécago Board Options Exchange’s (“CBOE")
Volatility Index Futures Contracts market (thdX market”) in February and March 2013, the

Chicago Mercantile Exchange’s (“CME") E-Miitandard & Poor’s 500 Stock Price Index



Futures Contracts market (the “ES markat’June and December 2013 and January 2014, and
the CME’s Ten Year T-Note Treasury Futureskea (“ZN market”) in February 2016.1d at

4; R. 72 at 4.) Specifically, the CFTC camdle that Defendants’ deceptive misconduct followed
the following pattern across all relevant markets:

1) placing at least one, and in many instances multiple “spoof orders” on one side
of the market with the intent to meel these orders before execution;

2) placing these orders @t near the best bid offer price as passive orders,
behind existing orders;

3) placing these ordersrftarge numbers of contrts, at least doubling the
number of contracts offeraat bid at those price levets better, to create the
false impression of market depth and book pressure on that side of the market,
in order to induce other market papiants (including both manual traders and
those using computer algorithms to maétesling decisions) to place orders on
the same side of the market;

4) canceling all of the spoairder(s) simultaneously within one second of entry,
largely before they could execute;

5) using the “avoid ordersdhcross” functionality tgplace “flip” order(s) as
aggressive order(s) which would siltameously (within 5 milliseconds) cancel
any opposite order(s) at the same or bettiee. The aggressive flip order(s),
except in one instance, then traded adammegket participants that had joined
the “spoof orders” before those marketticipants couléissess and react to
the updated market information; and

6) often placing the aggressive flip ordasspartially visibléiceberg” orders to
maximize the likelihood they would be filled.

(Id. at 1 54.)
Il. The Charged Trades

The CFTC’s Complaint (the “Complainttharges Defendants with (1) spoofing the
futures market in violation of Section 4c@)(C) of the CEA and (2) employing a manipulative
device, scheme, or artifice in violation af@ion 6(c)(1) of the C&k and CFTC Regulation

180.1. (R. 1, Complaint, at 30-33.) Specificallpunt One charges Defendants with engaging



in spoofing during the relevant peribgl, among other thing®idding or offering
with the intent to cancehe bid or offer before execution, while placing orders
during the relevant period, inclundy the following orders . . .

(a) at least 1,633 orders in the COMIEopper contract on Globex with
the intent to cancel the orderddr® execution on December 1, 2, 5-9,
12-16, 19, and 20, 2011.

(b) at least 1,102 orders in the NYMEXude oil contract on Globex with
the intent to cancel the orddysfore execution, on May 7 and 9-11,
2012.

(c) at least 1,574 orders in the NYME¥tural gas contract on Globex
with the intent to cacel the orders before execution, on November 30
and December 3-4, 2012.

(d) at least 284 orders in the CFE VIdrdract with the intent to cancel
the orders before execution, orbRgary 19-22, 25-28 and March 1, 4-
7,11-12, 18-21, 2013.

(e) at least 614 orders in the CMEMIini S&P 500 contract on Globex
with the intent to cacel the orders before execution, on June 11 and
12, 2013, as well as December 16-19, 2013 and January 6-10, 2014.

(Id. at 30—31.) In addition, Count Two chargeddneant with employing or attempting to use
or employ

[a] manipulative or deceptive devicehsme, or artifice to defraud, by placing
passive orders for a large number of cartg@n one side of the market to create
the false impression of increased maidkepth and book pressure in order to
fraudulently and manipulatilyeinduce other market péeipants to place orders
for contracts at levels that they wouldt have placed but for the spoof orders.
[Defendants] then misused the avoid ordbeg cross functioniy to virtually
simultaneously cancel their spoof ordemsl dlip to aggressively take the other
side of the market (and trade with marfatticipants induced to place orders
similar to the spoof orders before atimearket participants became aware that
they were spoof orders.) Defendant this during the relevant time period,
including:

(a) at least 288 times in the COMEX copper market on December 1, 2, 5-
9, 12-16, 19, and 20, 2011.

(b) at least 324 times in the NYMEX crude oil market on May 7 and 9-
11, 2012.



(c) at least 330 times in the NYMEX natural gas market on November 30
and December 3-4, 2012.

(d) at least 89 times in the CFE VIX market on February 19-22, 25-28,
and March 1, 4-7, 11-12, 18-21, 2013.

(e) at least 285 times in the CME E-Mini S&P 500 market on June 11
and 12, 2013, as well as December 16-19, 2013 and January 6-10,
2014.
(d. at 32.)
lll.  The Hearing
Beginning on April 25, 2016, the Court helde@ght-day hearing on the CFTC’s motion.
During the hearing, the CFTC called the follng witnesses to testify: Richard Mayhe head
of fixed income currencies and commodities proprietary trading for Citadel Securities; Matthew
Wasko, the former head futures trader VBB T Analytics of HTG Capital Partners; Karen
Christiansen, the Vice President of Regulatory Systems Development for the CBOE and former
Chief Regulatory Officer for the CBOE Futures Exchange (“CFE”); Karsten Hiestermann, the
head of the Exchange Supervisory Authority far Binistry of Economicef the State of Hesse,
Germany; Steve Strohmer, 3Red’s Chief OprgOfficer; Defendant Igor Oystacher; Joy
McCormack, a Senior Futures Trading Investig with the CFTCand Professor Hendrik
Bessembinder, the CFTC’s expert witness who is a Professor of Finance at Arizona State
University. Defendants calleGregory O’Connor, 3Red’s @i Compliance Officer, and
Professor Daniel R. Fischel, Defendants’ expaitess who is a Professor of Law and Business

at the University of Chicago Law School ahe President of Compass Lexecon, a consulting

firm specializing in the application of economics to legal and regulatory issues.

! Due to scheduling issues, the Court heard Richard May’s testimony on April 8, 2016.
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LEGAL STANDARD

“Pursuant to section 6¢ of the ComntgdExchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, the
Commodity Futures Trading Comssion is authorized to institute an action seeking injunctive
relief[.]” CFTC. v. Hunt591 F.2d 1211, 1219 (7th Cir. 1979e also CFTC v. Sarvdyo. 08
C 192, 2012 WL 426746, at *5 (N.D. lll. Feb. 10, 20{Bection 6c(a) of the [CEA] permits the
Court to enjoin [Defendant] from violatinggfCEA] or CFTC regulations in the future.”)
(citing 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(a)). Specifically, Sentil3a-1 of the CEA provides, in relevant part,
the following:

(a) Whenever it shall appear to the Coigsion that any registered entity or other
person has engaged, is engaging, ob@iato engage in any act or practice
constituting a violation of any provision tifis chapter or any rule, regulation,
or order thereunder, or isstraining trading iany commaodity for future
delivery or any swap, the Commissioray bring an action in the proper
district court of the United States thre proper United States court of any
territory or other place subject to theisdiction of the United States, to
enjoin such act or practice, or to ert® compliance with this chapter, or any
rule, regulation or order thereunder, aaad courts shall lva jurisdiction to
entertain such actionBrovided That no restrainingrder (other than a
restraining order which prohibitsa person from destroying, altering or
disposing of, or refusing to pernaitithorized representatives of the
Commission to inspect, when andraguested, any books and records or
other documents or which prohibiany person from withdrawing,
transferring, removing, dissipating, or piising of any funds, assets, or other
property, and other than an ordepajmting a temporary receiver to
administer such restraining order ang&sform such other duties as the court
may consider appropriate) or injunction feolation of the provisions of this
chapter shall be issued ex parte by said court.

(b) Upon a proper showing, a permanenteonporary injunctn or restraining
order shall be granted without bond.

7 U.S.C. § 13a—1(a)—(b). “The discretion affordeel district court irdeciding whether to issue
such relief . . . [is] broad.Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1219 (citingnited States v. W. T. Grarg45 U.S.

629, 633—-34, 73 S. Ct. 894, 97 L. Ed. 1303 (1953) (ndkiagthe court’s injunctive “decision is



based on all the circumstances; [her] discreBamecessarily broachd a strong showing of
abuse must be made to reverse it")).

Importantly,statutoryinjunctiverelief differs from traditionaéquitable injunctive relief.
Indeed, “when Congress has integrated traditiomales of equitable lief into a statutory
enforcement scheme, the court’s equitablegrastiould be exercised in harmony with the
overall objectives of the legislationld. (citing SEC v. Advance Growth Capital Carg70
F.2d 40, 53 (7th Cir. 1972)). Further, “[a]ctidios statutory injunctins need not meet the
requirements for an injunction imposedtbgditional equity jurisprudence.ld. at 1220see
also CFTC v. Lake Shore Asset Mgmt. 1486 F.3d 769, 772 (7th Cir. 2007) (“Section 13a—
1(a) . . . authorizes district casito enjoin acts or practicésat violate the Commodity Futures
Act and the CFTC's regulations. . . . Sucstatute alters the common law—for example, it
dispenses with the need to showeparable injury[.]”) (citingHunt, 591 F.2d at 1220).
Specifically, “[ijn an action foa statutory injunction, once a vation has been demonstrated,
the moving party need only show that thera reasonable likelihood of future violations in
order to obtain relief."SEC v. Holschuh694 F.2d 130, 144 (7th Cir. 1982) (footnote omitted)
(citing Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1220%ee also Fed. Trade Comm. v. Lifewatch, Inc. F. Supp. 3d
__,No0.15C 5781, 2016 WL 1315063, at *23 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 31, 2016) (dilim¢ed States v.
Kaun 827 F.2d 1144, 1148 (7th Cir. 1987)). Put difféhe the movant must demonstrate 1) a
violation of CEA section 4c(aB}(C) or of CFTC Regulation 1804d)(1), as alleged in the two-
count Complaint, and 2) a reasolelikelihood of future violations.

First, the CFTC must “demonstrate[]” tHaefendants have committed a “violation” of

the CEA or the CFTC’s Regulations. “A panfacie case of illegality is sufficientCFTC v.
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Garofalg, No. 10 C 2417, 2010 WL 11245430, at *2 (NI Dec. 21, 2010) (citingcFTC v.
Muller, 570 F.2d 1296, 1300 (5th Cir. 1978)).

Second, the CFTC must show that ther ‘iszasonable likelihood” that Defendants will
engage in “future violations.Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1220. “The purpose of injunctive relief is, after
all, not to punish but to deter future viotats, thus insuring gener@mpliance with the broad
remedial design of the legislationAdvance Growth Capital, Corp470 F.3d at 54 (citing
Hecht Co. v. Bowles321 U.S. 321, 329, 64 S. Ct. 587, 88 L. Ed. 754 (1944)) (“The historic
injunctive process was designed to deter, nputash.”). While past misconduct can be “highly
suggestive of the likelihood of futei violations, . . . the courheuld look to the ‘totality of the
circumstances™ to determine wther such a l&ihood exists.Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1220 (quoting
SEC v. Mgmt. Dynamics, In&15 F.2d 801, 807 (2d Cir. 1975)).

Defendants’ argument for a heightened pralary injunction standard is unavailing.
Specifically, Defendants argue that the Cainduld follow the Second Circuit’s injunction
analysis inSEC v. UnifundAL 910 F.2d 1028, 1039 (2d Cir. 1990). (R. 90 at 36—38.) In
Unifund Defendants argue, the Second Circuit held that “what constitutes a ‘proper showing'’ is
determined by the nature and scop¢he requested injunction.”ld| at 36, citingUnifund, 910
F.2d at 1039.) Defendants further aeat, as the petitioners Wnifund sought to prohibit

“future violations,” the court guired them to make a ““moggersuasive’ and ‘more substantial
showing . . . both as to [the purported] atbn and [its] riskof recurrence.” Id. at 36—-37,
citing Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1041.) Thus, Defendants conclude, “[t]his Court should do the
same.” [(d. at 38.)

The Seventh Circuit, however, has not addphe Second Circuit’s injunction standard

from Unifund In fact, as Defendants point outist&ircuit has explicitly left the {nifund
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guestion for another day.SEC v. Cherif933 F.2d 403, 408 n.1 (7th Cir. 1991). Indeed,
“neither the Seventh Circumor any district court ithis Circuit has endorsddnifunds
reasoning.”Garofalg 2010 WL 11245430, at *6 (citingherif, 933 F.2d at 408 n.1). Further,
Defendants’ citations to six otherstlict courts in an attempt tdubtrate that “[c]ourts in sister
circuits have faithfully appliednifunds heightened standard]” is unpersuasive. (R. 90, Def.
Response, at 37.) A numberagher circuits have optatbtto follow Unifund instead applying
the default standard tli&eventh Circuit employsSee SEC v. Fif&811 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2002)
(refusing to apply the Second Circuit’s statry-injunction standard as definedumifund)
(citing Unifund, 910 F.2d at 1036—373ge alscCFTC v. Hunter Wise Commodities, LLTA9
F.3d 967, 974 (11th Cir. 2014) (“Binding precedenthiis circuit suggest&nd other circuits
have held, that where the [CFT€Heks to enjoin future vialions, it must also show a
reasonable likelihood of future violations in atluh to a prima facie cas# illegality.”) (citing
Muller, 570 F.2d at 1300 FTC v. Co Petro Mktg. Grp680 F.2d 573, 582 n.16 (9th Cir.
1982);Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1220. As a result, the Court adheres—as it must—to this Circuit’s two-
pronged approach toward statytamjunctions, requiring the CFT® show 1) a prima facie
violation and 2) a “reasonablddlihood” of future violations.
ANALYSIS

Factual Findings

The Court carefully assessed the testimang demeanor of each witness during the
hearing and makes its factual findings beloWhe findings are based on the testimony from the
hearing, the extensive exhibits admitted iexidence during the hearing, and the exhibits

provided with the briefing.
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A. Defendants 3Red Trading LLC and Igor B. Oystacher

Defendant 3Red Trading LLC is a “proprigtarading firm” currently employing “about
35" employees. (Preliminary kmpction Hearing Transcript (“TH) at 2030.) 3Red employs
both manual traders—where humans make tadetisions—and algorithmic traders—where
computer algorithms make trading decisionisl. 4t 2037.) 3Red currenttyades in five of the
six charged futures markets including the ES, ¥, Crude Oil, and Natural Gas markets.
(Id. at 2040.) Steve Strohmer has worked at 3feck April 2011 and currently serves as the
firm’s Chief Operating Officer. I¢. at 1264.) Gregory O’Connor has served as 3Red’s Chief
Compliance Officer since July 2013d.(at 2030.) As 3Red’s Chief Compliance Officer, Mr.
O’Connor, in relevant part, oversees compliafiocehe firm, handles dé&rnal and internal
inquiries, analyzes 3Red tradetsiding, speaks with regulatoes)d serves as a liaison for any
compliance-related purposedd.j

Defendant Igor B Oystachertablished 3Red in early 2011ld(at 563.) Defendant
Oystacher immigrated to the Urtdt&tates from Russia at arounftiefien years old and attended
Northwestern University before dropping outeafan internship aelber Group, a former
trading firm. (d. at 924-25.) Defendant Oystacher tinamked at Gelber Group for nearly a
decade, trading on futures markets and, eagly, managing ten other traderdd. @@t 927-28.)
Currently, Defendant Oystacher serves as@B&President, Chief Executive Officer, and
principal trader. Ifl. at 563;ld. at 726.) During the relevatiime period, Defendant Oystacher
was a principal and majority ower of 3Red. (R. 1 at { 12.)

Defendant Oystacher is a manual trader. §7928.) As such, he manually executes
trades based on his own observationd. gt 928—-29.) To aid his manual trading, he uses a

computer mouse that places pre-configurattremt quantities depending on which buttons he
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clicks. (d. at 966—67.) Specifically, the left button Defendant Oystacher’'s mouse submits
larger orders, while the right tian submits smaller ordersld() These amounts vary depending
on which markets Defendant Oystacher tradesloh.a 967.) In addition, Defendant Oystacher
utilizes a “randomizer tool” that randomizes ttumtract quantities he orders by either adding or
subtracting a small amount eaahe he places an orderid(at 989.) Since 2011, Defendant
Oystacher has traded on the following maskédte COMEX'’s Copper market, the NYMEX's
Crude Oil market, the NYMEX’s Natural Gas rket, the CBOE’s VIX market, the CME'’s ES
market, and the CME’s ZN market. (R. 1 at R472 at 4.) Currelt, Defendant Oystacher
only trades on two of the six alged markets—the CME’s ES matland ZN market. (Tr. at
930.)

B. Algorithmic Traders Versus Manual Traders

The futures market consists of both@ithmic, or automated, traders and manual
traders. Indeed, “futures matk appear to provide an envirnent conducive to both manual
and automated participants, where each oftapspboth common and distinctive roles.” (Def.
Exh. D55, Richard Haynes & John S. Robekistomated Trading in Futures Markeddar. 13,
2015, at 2.) Defendant Oystachas,noted above, is a manual trader. Specifically, he manually
makes trading decisions and enters individual trades using a computer mouse as opposed to a
computer software or algorithm. (Tr.@28-29.) Algorithmic tradsr however, “rely on
computer software to monitor market conditi@amsl to submit and cancel orders.” (R. 20-4,
CFTC Exh. 94, at 7.) According to Professos&ambinder, “[t]he literature has documented
that a substantial proportion (in macases the majority) of ordand trading activity in modern
electronic financial markets is attriladle to ‘algorithmic traders[.]” I¢.); see alsqDef. Exh.

D55, Richard Haynes & John S. RobeAstomated Trading in Futures MarkeMar. 13, 2015,

14



at 1) (“Recent studies on autot@d trading in domestic marketave found that often over half
of the trades on securities and futures exchewnggke some use of algorithms . . . to match
trades, oversee certain ordgpes (e.g. stop orders)[,] and nitwr general market risk.”)
“Algorithmic traders include a veety of participantsranging from brokerage firms who seek
favorable trade executions on behalf of clienteeng long-term investment positions or hedges
to proprietary firms who trade anprincipal basis in pursuit ghort-term profiobpportunities.”
(1d.)

C. The CFTC’s Market Witnesses

The CFTC presented, in part, both markdéhesses and exchange regulators. Richard
May of Citadel and Matthew Vg¢&o of HTG Capital Partneese market participants who
experienced declines in profitability in certéinures markets, observed what they believed was
spoofing, and filed complaintsithi the CFTC. Karen Christiaes and Karsten Hiestermann are
exchange regulators who both received varinasket participant complaints and oversaw
investigations into Defadants’ trading behavior.

1. Richard May

Richard May is the head of fixed income currencies and commaodities proprietary trading
for Citadel Securities (“Citadel”), where he hasrkenl for almost twelve years. (Tr. at5.)
Citadel operates as a liquidity provider for the capital markéds) Before working at Citadel,
Mr. May received both a Bachelsiand Master’s degree in Caunter Science from Stanford
University. (d.) At Citadel, Mr. May, who is veryx@erienced in tradingnanages a team of
“quants,” or quantitative analystwho look through market data develop trading algorithms

and strategies.Id.) Mr. May is highly intelligenand was a very credible witness.
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Citadel’s trading algorithmeely, in part, on the data tlexchange distributes to all
market participants.Id. at 18.) First, market participangjonymous to all otlgarticipants in
the market, submit orders to an exchange’s order gateways either manually or automatically
through automated trading systemkl. &t 7.) The exchange’sder gateways then transmit
those orders into a matching engine that eggtes the orders from across the marKelt) (The
matching engine then matches orders to buy ornders to sell at the same price, following a
“first in, first out” priority. (Id. at 7-8.) In other words, tlemgine first matches and executes
orders with the earliest timestamps while lateleos “rest” in a queue. Finally, the matching
engine has a market data endinat distributes information bat¢& market participants, such as
order matches and executions, cancellations, clsanggiantities, or changes in pricekd. at
8.) The exchanges distribute this data througmtlarket data feed, and participants view it
using a price ladder—a market’s order bookwy and sell orders arranged by price, as

displayed below. I¢. at 12; CFTC Exh. 1.)
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Specifically, Citadel’s trading strategies tendook at “three keyactors™: 1) relative
value, 2) book pressure, and 3) trade flowdl. &t 16-17.) Relative vadurefers to whether two
similar products are trading at thevsaprice relative to each othetd.(at 17.) Book pressure
measures whether there exists more buyinglbngénterest in the market for a particular
product, using the number of orders at each peieel in the order book on both the buy and sell
sides. [d.) Trade flow refers to thactual trades that are filldeetween buyers and sellers and,
specifically, the prices at wHidhose trades occurredd.|

Among other markets, Mr. May and Citatielde on the ES Market. The ES market
contracts are “the most liquid equity index f@siin the world,” meaning this market has the
largest volume of contracts traded a ddg. &t 20.) Citadel is “one dhe largest traders in the
world on the ES market.”ld.) Indeed, it is “in théop five” of all market participants trading in
this market. Id.) The ES market futures contracts tieg} financially aganst the price of the
S&P 500 index at the end of every quarter. pphee ladder increments are 25 cents apiece, and
the multiplier on it is 50.” 1fl.) Put differently, one’s net gain twss in this market is equal to
the difference between one’s buy and sell prices, multiplied by fifty.

In his role as a trader, Mr. May became familiar with the term “spodfinghe context
of trading commaodity futures.ld. at 27.) Specifically, his teamegsthis term to describe when
people were “adding non-genuingssinto the book in order toisrepresent true buying and
selling interest of the market.1d( at 42.)

In 2013, Mr. May and his team observed what they believed was spoofing in the ES

market. Around this time, they noticed a sigraht decline in Citades profitability. (Id. at 23.)

2The Court does not view Mr. May’s testimony regarding “spoofing” as an expert opirasradegal conclusion.
Instead, the Court accepts his testimonthas of a layperson with extensive experience in futures trading and as to
what he understood spoofing to be in the context of his job at Citadel.
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Immediately, Citadel scaled baitk participation in the ES market by over fifty percend.)(
Mr. May’s team began investigating the marttata to determine wh@itadel was experiencing
such a decline.ld.). To do so, the team reviewed pas trades and thersaunding historical
market circumstances. Initially, they notidadye order entries on omsede of the market
followed by a cancellation.Id.) The cancellation was almost immediately followed by a trade
on the opposite side of the market that wouldcmavith, and take out, the remaining orders
from other market participants who hadpasded to the initial large order entryid.§
According to Mr. May, the order entries and cdlati®ns “were very large Much larger than
the norm we had been used to seeindd’) (Consequently, his team investigated further.
Eventually, Mr. May’s team developed a pragrto detect this behavior on a more
automated basis in an effort to determinesthler this was “a new phenomenon or something
that had always been there thaelg] hadn’t previously seen.’Id; at 23—-24.) The team named
the program the “Pull-Swipe Detector,” as buld detect a market pampant “pulling the size
showing and then swiping tokie out the remaining size.ld{ at 24.) Put differently, the tool
searched for instances of large order cancefiatfollowed by quick trades on the opposite side
at the same priceld; at 24-27.) Specifically, CitadelRull-Swipe Detector flagged order
entries where 1) over fifty peent of the total display size ome side of the market was
cancelled just before 2) a tedf at least two hundred coatts was entered on the opposite
side—a “fairly large trade” relate to the “size showing at thep of the book,” according to Mr.
May. (d. at 28-29.)
Ultimately, Mr. May’s “Pull Swipe Detector” igged a number of trades that met these
parameters across both the ES and Eurex nsafilkeeh June 2013 to early 2014. This data led

the team to “believe that the size being addesl ned genuine size; that it did not truly reflect
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buying and selling interest; that pagds these orders were fakeld.(at 24.) They believed the
market participant did not intend to execute theds for a number of reasons: 1) the size of the
initial orders accounted for more than the regshefmarket combined; 2) the time between the
cancellation of the large order sizzasd the opposite-sideaties was so shortahit led them to
believe a single participant was responsible; 8)ititial large orders weneot at the top of the
order book long enough to fill; and 4) there was téepia of flips from the buy side to the sell

side (or vice versa) that occurredich quicker than one would expect given the large size of the
orders entered.Id. at 24-25.)

Although Mr. May’s team did natalculate the specific damages, it knew this pattern of
behavior was problematic for Citadel’s trading strategitss.af 50.) Indeed, as noted above,
Citadel's strategies relied, in part, on bookgsure, which is determined by the buying and
selling interest displayed in the markeld. @t 50.) Here, Citadel fethat the market participant
responsible for such laegcancellations and flipgas aiming to mislead other participants about
the number of buyers and sellers in the markek. a¢ 26, 50.) As such, Mr. May believed this
behavior could mislead Citadel’s algorithingo buying or selling based on artificial
information. (d. at 26, 50.) Consequently, Mr. May ciowied to scale back Citadel’s trading
activity by up to fifty percent in these marget‘This resulted in a loss of opportunity and
trading losses approximating over six figures gy on trading days omhich the spoofer was
active or on which we let ¢halgorithms stay scaled down between September 2013 and
December 2013. To put that in context, dutimg period, the spoofing activity cost Citadel
millions of dollars and Citadel did less than 50% of its normal market share.” (R. 20-5, May

Afdvt., at  24.)
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In January 2014, Citadel filed a complawth the CFTC based, in large part, on Mr.
May'’s Pull-Swipe Detector data. (Tr. at 51-52pound this time, Citadel also filed a complaint
with the Eurex exchange based on Mr. Magriailar observations in that marketd.(at 52.)
Neither Mr. May nor Citadel knew the identity thie trader engaging the conduct. The CFTC,
however, determined that Defendant Oystaevees responsible for theades identified in
Citadel's complaint. If. at 1358.) Soon afterward, in light of the fact that Eurex publicly fined
3Red for similar activity, as described in madegail below, Mr. May’s team reduced its Pull-
Swipe Detector analysisld( at 52.) Mr. May and his teaassumed the pattern of behavior
would cease in both markets as a result of the public punishnént. (

Later, in March 2015, however, Mr. May obged another sudden decline in Citadel's
profitability in the ES market.Id. at 53.) Upon further invesagjon, Mr. May noticed similar
trading patterns to those histe had observed in 2013 and 2014l.)( Accordingly, Mr. May
again employed the Pull Swipe Detectdd.)( The CME’s latency period, however, had shrunk
from around four milliseconds in 2013 to about one millisecond in 2Qdi5at(54.) In other
words, it now only took about one millisecond fortp@pants to enter orders and receive data
back through the matching engine system detailed abéd@. 1§ light of this change, Mr.

May’s team adjusted the Pull-Swipetector's parameters such that it would search for orders
where the timing between the “pulls” and “swapeor cancellationand opposite-side trades,
was so small that it was virtually simultaneoulsl.)( Ultimately, with the change, Mr. May’s
team discovered a number of instances thatongd the “pull-swipe” behavior in 2013 and
2014. (d. at 53, 58-59.) Given this patte Mr. May believed that th trading behavior was not
a result of random chance, but, instead, based on intentional cornlduett 50—60.) As a result,

Citadel again reduced its activitytinis market by fifteen percentld( at 61.) Mr. May
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explained that this continueddw@ction in activity “resulted itrading losses and opportunity
costs approximating six figures per day on appraxaty 50 days during thaeriod. To put that
in context, the misconduct cost us millions of dollars.” (R. 20-5, May Afdvt., at 1 32.)

Citadel then filed a second complaint detgjlthis trading behaviaxith both the CFTC
and the Eurex market, based in large part onMéry’s data and observations. (Tr. at 62.) As
noted earlier, the CFTC identified Defendant @gker as the trader responsible for the activity
highlighted in Citadel’'s complaint.ld. at 1358.)

2. Matthew Wasko

Mr. Matthew Wasko began tradingfutures markets in January 2008d. @t 372.)
During the relevant time period, Mr. Wasko veakead futures trader with CGT Analytics
(“CGTA") of HTG Capital Pamers—a proprietary trading company that provides capital to
other trading groups.ld. at 371-72.) There, Mr. Wasko ran the futures trading desk and
worked with CGTA's software developers to dieyenew trading algorithmand trading tools.
(Id. at 372—-73.) Under Mr. Wasko, the futuregltng desk operated mostly on the CME,
trading in the ES migzet among others.Id. at 373.) CGTA operated as a “market maker,”
assessing a product’s fair market value and traalirog near it to colledhe “bid-ask spread” on
both sides of the marketld( at 378—-79.) CGTA's trading steayies relied, in part, on the
guantity available to trade atawaprice, the number of parti@pts, and, similar to Citadel, book
pressure. I(l. at 374-75; R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt.,t 6—7.) Indeed, book pressure was
important for CGTA'’s algorithms, as “[iJt was aryestrong factor . . . in figuring out the supply

and demand and the interest §viace] level in a market.” Il. at 375.)
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Mr. Wasko first became aware of the term “spooffraybund 2008. I¢. at 381.)
Indeed, he observed trading conduct he betlevas spoofing on multiple occasions throughout
his career as a traderd.) Specifically, Mr. Wasko undersid spoofing to refer to a trading
strategy consisting of three parts:

So the first part, as | said, would be #uzling of orders of one or many orders to
a price level.

The second part of the strategy would bealbthose orders to be cancelled in

quick succession to eachhet in a way that appeatewhen looking at the order

book and looking at market data, that they happened at the same time.

And the third part of the stiegy is to send an aggressive order to that same price

level to trade with the remaining quey that’s there from other market

participants.

(Id. at 382.)

Beginning around July 2012, Mr. Wasko and t@am began to observe “suspicious
trading” they believed was spoofing in the ESked (R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., at § 9.) After
noticing a decline in profitabilt they began reviewing histoattrading data from market
replays of losing trades. (Tat 382-85.) Specifically, Mr. Vé&o observed the following trend:
1) several large orders were added, or “stdckaver time that, in the aggregate, made up a
significant percentage of the exiggimarket, 2) all of the orders veecancelled at the same time,
despite not being entered at the same time, and, finally, 3) about two to eight milliseconds later,
an aggressive order was aetthat was large enough totetaand execute the remaining

orders at the same price as the cancelled orddrspialler than the total that existed just before

the cancellation. I4. at 384-88; R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., a®11-13.) This trading activity was

3 As stated during the hearing, the Court does not view Mr. Wasko's testimony regardiofintgpas an expert
opinion or as a legal conclusion.staad, the Court accepts his testimonthas of a layperson with extensive
experience in futures trading and as to what he underspmmfing to be in the context of his job at HTG Capital
Partners.
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detrimental to CGTA's tradingdzause the initial large orders appeared to its algorithms as
genuine interest from multiple market participants, leading CGTA to join that movement and
enter orders it intended to trade. (R. 20-6sWdeAfdvt., at { 11.) Istead, the initial large
orders were cancelled and an aggressive ordeplaaed on the opposite sioethe market that
matched with CGTA’s orders before CGTA evealized the initial ordersad been cancelled.
(Id. at § 12; Tr. at 387.) Thu€GTA lacked enough time teact to the casellation. (d.; Tr. at
387-88.) Indeed, almost every time this tngdactivity occurred, CGTA'’s algorithms were
unsuccessful in their own cancellation attemassan opposite-side trade had already executed
CGTA's orders. (Tr. at 388.)

Mr. Wasko’s team observed this behavioorglically from July 2012 to June 2013d.(
at 388-89; R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., at 11 10—11.)ight of this behawr, Mr. Wasko and his
team developed a tool to identify spoofing atyibefore CGTA’s algathms traded, called the
“Detection Algorithm.” (R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., §t16.) Mr. Wasko’s team ultimately suffered
realized losses of approximately one hwabthousand dollars between January 2013 and
January 2015.1d. at § 23.) Moreover, CGTA reduced its exposure at the top of the order book
in the ES market during this time, sometimes turning the algorithms completely off, leading to
significant opportunity cost.Id.)

Given these losses, Mr. Wasko filed a nuntdfecomplaints with the CME and the
CFTC beginning in late 2012. (Tr. at 392.) Miay 2013, Mr. Wasko’s team gave a presentation
to the CME, detailing a number of exampleattiiustrated the pattern described above based on
data collected from the “Detection Algorithm.fd(at 393.) Later, on June 25, 2013, Mr.

Wasko filed a complaint with the CFTC that itiéad examples of this pattern from June 11, 12,
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13, and 17, 2013 in the ES marked. @t 396-401; R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., at § 19These
examples illustrated behavior that 1) was at the top of the book; 2yedevhen there was no
significant activity in the ES market before ttancellation of multiple orders followed by flips;
3) included large initial “stacked” orders that constituted at least twenty-five percent of the
volume at the top of the book; icluded large cancellations, caitisting at least twenty-five
percent of the top of the bookyé5) demonstrated short canaelflip times that did not allow
CGTA to react. (R. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., at § 1The CFTC subsequently identified Defendant
Oystacher as the trader responsiblethis activity. (Tr. at 1363.)

On January 16, 2014, CGTA sent the CFT@mail with additional examples of the
pattern described above fronetbanuary 8, 2014 trading dajR. 20-6, Wasko Afdvt., at § 20;
Tr. at 401-04.) Indeed, Mr. Wko continued to update the OF with examples and data
throughout 2014. (Tr. at 403—04Rinally, Mr. Wasko believed thpattern would disappear

after the CME announced Rule 578 September 2014 that explicitly prohibited behavior

4 The Court acknowledges that Mr. Waska “whistleblower” in this case in light of his complaint to the CFTC.
(Tr. at 394.) As aresult, the Courtaware that Mr. Wasko, in light of this status, stands to gain financially if
Defendants are ultimately found liable for spoofing the gtk The Court viewed his testimony with this incentive
in mind.

> The CME’s Rule 575 provides,

All Orders must be entered for the purposexafcuting bona fide transactions. Additionally, all
non-actionable messages must be entered in good faith for legitimate purposes.

(A) No person shall enter or cause to beeesd an order with the intent, at the time
of order entry, to cancel the order before execution or to modify the order or to
avoid execution;

(B) No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message or messages with intent to mislead other market participants;

© No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message or messages with intent to oaeklalelay, or disrupt the systems of the
Exchange or other market participants; and

(D) No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message with intent to disrupt, or wittckless disregard for the adverse impact
on, the orderly conduct of trading or the fair execution of transactions.
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similar to what Mr. Wasko’s team observeR. 20-6, Wasko Afdvtat 11 21-22.) Instead,
CGTA's “Detection Algorithm” continued to obsve this pattern in the ES markeld. @t 1 22.)
Accordingly, Mr. Wasko sent the CME additional examples of the trading behavior described
above from September 15 to September 17, 2004). (
3. Karen Christiansen

Karen Christiansen is the Vice President of Regulatory Systems Development for the
CBOE. (Tr. at 435.) In part, the CBOE serassan operator for the CBOE Futures Exchange
(“CFE"). (Id.) The CFE is an exchange servicingi®as markets in which participants trade
futures products, such as the VIX markdtl. &t 436.) The VIX is amdex that tracks the
volatility, or degree of uncertainty, of fugiprice movements in the ES markdd. at 436-37.)
VIX futures contracts are tradeelgularly in each of the nineear-term months and, after that,
guarterly for five quarters. (R. 1 at I 4@.he contract multiplier for each VIX contract is
$1000, and prices move in increments of .05 points per contract. Put differently, the movement
in price of one increment regsiin a change in the vadwf the contract by $50.00ld( at 11 46—
47.)

Before her role with the CBOE, Ms. Christiansen served as the Chief Regulatory Officer
for the CFE. (Tr. at 435, 438.) In that role, MI$iristiansen “was respsible for ensuring that
the Exchange had a regulatory program talfuléir responsibilities aa designated contract
market, and . . . ensuring thaetparticipants in [the] market weeadhering to CFR rules as well

as other rules.” I¢. at 438.) Ms. Christiansen would Ieabout possible violations in a number

***The provisions of this Rule apply to all market states, including the pre-opeseingd, the
closing period, and all trading sessions.

CME Rule 575see alsdCME Rulebookavailable athttp://www.cmegroup.com/rulebook/CME/I/5/5.pdést
visited July 12, 2016).
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of ways. The CFE conducted its own surveillancgeiarch of violations agpecific rules. Il.

at 439.) In addition, the CFE had an agreemattit the National Futures Association (“NFA”)
under which the NFA conducted survarite in the CFE’s marketsld() The NFAis a

registered futures association that is, in padponsible for providing regulatory services—such
as conducting surveillance, performing invedimas, and filing reports—to designated contract
markets, including the CFEId( at 440.) Finally, the CF&ften received complaints from
market participants about other participants’ activitiéd. gt 439.)

Ms. Christiansen learned about the actspioofing” while working on regulatory
planning and strategy for the CBOHd.(at 456-57.) In this role, she worked to understand
spoofing to help the CBOE’s regulatory deymieent team build spoofing surveillanced. @t
457.) In doing so, she understood spoofing as ‘fpyttrders on one side of the market to create
the impression of interest at that price le¥@lowed by a cancellation of those orders, and then
trading on the opposite side on tpate level that . . . wherbédse orders that were cancelled
previously rested.” Id.) In addition, CFE Rule 620(c), ebtshed in 2012, exjitly prohibited
spoofing. [d. at 471-72.) Indeed, the language mirrdahed found in CEA section 4c(a)(5)(C),
providing, in relevant part:

No Trading Privilege Holder nor any it¢ Related Parties shall engage in any
trading, practice or conduct on the exoge or subject to the Rules of the
Exchange that:
(c) Is, is of the character of, @ commonly known to the trade as
“spoofing” (bidding or offering witlthe intent to cancel the bid or

offer before execution).

CFE Rule 620(c}.

8 n light of recent amendments, what was CFE Rule 620@0)13 is now CFE Rule 620(a)(iii). Interestingly, on
July 30, 2015, the CFE added section 620(b), which provides:
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In February 2013, Ms. Christiansen receiaecomplaint from the chief compliance
officer at a trading firm reporting trading behawin the VIX market that resembled what she
understood to be spoofingld(at 459.) Specifically, the ogplaint identified “a pattern of
several orders of various quantity [sic] comintpithe market . . . that those orders were
cancelled; and then within a veshiort period of time, the comjptant’s orders that were still
resting at that level would be traded againstd’ &t 459-60.) Subsequbn Ms. Christiansen
forwarded the complaint to the NFA and instrudieein to conduct an investigation, as spoofing
was under the CFE’s agreement with the NFI. &t 461.) In the course of said investigation,
the NFA identified Defendants as the participaartgaging in this tradgmactivity and discussed
it with Defendants. I¢. at 468.) Indeed, as part of tli$cussion, the NFA showed Defendants
examples of particular ordeabout which it had concernsld(at 487.) Eventually, the NFA

reported its findings and Defendantssponses to Ms. Christianseid. @t 466.) Ms.

(b) All Orders must be entered for the purpose of executing bona fide transactions.
Additionally, all non-actionable messages must be entered in good faith for legitimate
purposes.

() No person shall enter or cause to beerxd an Order or quote with the intent, at
the time of entry, to cancel the Order or quote before execution or to modify the
Order or quote to avoid execution;

(i) No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message or messages with intent to mislead other market participants;

(iii) No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message or messages with intent to oaeklaelay, or disrupt the systems of the
Exchange or other market participants; and

(iv) No person shall enter or cause to be entered an actionable or non-actionable
message with intent to disrupt, or wittckless disregard for the adverse impact
on, the orderly conduct of trading or the fair execution of transactions.

The provisions of this Rule apply to all market states, including the pre-opening period, the
closing period, and all trading sessions.

CFE Rule 620(b)see alsadCBOE Futures Exchange, LLC Rule Certification Submission Number CFE-
2015-020 (July 16, 20153yailable athttps://cfe.cboe.com/publish/CFErulefilings/SR-CFE-2015-020.pdf
(last visited July 12, 2016).
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Christiansen learned that the company resptsib the trading pagtn identified in the
complaint was 3Red and the individual trader was Igor Oystaclierat 462—63.) Further, the
NFA informed Ms. Christiansen that the tiragl behavior “seem[edp be spoofing.” Ifl. at

464.) The NFA reported that it obsed “several orders of various quantities coming in within a
relatively short period of timehbse orders resting for a shortipd of time, a cancel of those
orders, followed by an immediate larger order gapin and trading agaihall the other orders
remaining at that price level.”Id}) This trading conduct strud¥s. Christiansen as “unusual.”
(Id. at 465.) Indeed, the “patteas a whole” and the “number tines that it occurred in the
marketplace” led her to believedtithis activity was spoofing.ld. at 465-66.) Defendants’
responses to the NFA did not convince Ms. §lansen otherwise. Instead, she found they
provided no explanation for what caused them engle their trading position so quickly and so
often. (d. at 468-69.)

Between February 19 and March 20, 2013, @lsiistiansen received two more
complaints from CFE market participantshra Trading and Blu&ire Capital. Id. at 469.)
These complaints highlightaéchding patterns in the VIX nniget that mirrored the conduct
described in the first complaint. Specificalljt]hey indicated that they were observing several
small orders coming in to the market, thosgens then being cancelled almost simultaneously,
and then very quickly having their orders at thaine price level where those orders previously
were being hit or takelby one large order.”1d. at 470.) Again, Ms. Christiansen forwarded
these complaints to the NFA and instructieeim to initiate an investigationld( at 470-71.)

Around March 21, 2013, Ms. Christiansen, alavith other CFE enforcement staff and
NFA representatives, discusdedfendants’ trading activity ih Defendants’ clearing firm,

Advantages Futuredd() At this time, Ms. Christiansen informed Defendants’ clearing firm
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about the complaints, the open istigation, and, importantly, Dafdants’ trading pattern at the
heart of both. Ifl. at 471-72.) She also reminded Defertislaclearing firm of its duty to
supervise Defendants’ activities@ppriately under CFE rulesld( at 472.)

Further, Ms. Christiansen directly communicated with Defendants on multiple occasions.
Ms. Christiansen first met with 3Red’s ndarmer Chief Compliance Officer and another
employee, Edwin Johnson and Jen Lee, rdsdyg, on March 26, 2013, shity after her March
21 meeting with Advantages Futuredd. @t 474.) Defendants informed Ms. Christiansen that
Advantages Futures removeeithaccess to the CFE and respigel the intervention of Ms.
Christiansen’s office. I4. at 476.) Ms. Christiansen explad that Defendants would have to
work directly with Advantages Futuredd.) Then, in or around October 2013, Ms.
Christiansen met with Steve Strohmer and Gd&gonnor, 3Red’s ChieDperating Officer and
Chief Compliance Officer, respectivelyld() Defendants desired totinduce themselves in an
effort to aid their application fdrading privileges on the CFEId() Ms. Christiansen, however,
informed Defendants that the CFE had put a bal@Red’s application as a result of the open
investigation. Id. at 476-77.)

In November 2013, the NFA issued a fingdag to Ms. Christiansen and the CFE
regarding its investigation infdefendants’ tradig practices. Ifl. at 477—-78.) Specifically, the
NFA recommended that Ms. Christiansen andd@R& consider finding thddefendants violated,
in part, Rule 620(c), prohibiting spoofingld(at 478.) Around this time, Ms. Christiansen
became aware that the CFTC also had opanddvestigation into Defendants’ trading
activities. (d.) Accordingly, she shared the NFAs/estigation report antthe CFE’s own data

with the CFTC. Id.) Ultimately, the CFE closed its invesigon into Defendants in an effort to
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conserve resources, as the CHm€luded the CFE’s VIX markeeport in its investigation.Id.
at479.)
4. Karsten Hiestermann

Karsten Hiestermann has a law degree atloeidiead of the Exchange Supervisory
Authority for the Ministry of Economics of thgtate of Hesse, Germany and has fulfilled this
role for the last twenty yearsld( at 291-92.) Before working with the Exchange Supervisory
Authority, Mr. Hiestermann worked for the Ministof Economics as a legal expert on antitrust
and commercial competition lawld( at 292.)

The Exchange Supervisory Authority ispensible for regulating the exchanges in
Hesse, Germany, including futures exchangesk) Specifically, th€Exchange Supervisory
Authority regulates, in part, the Eurex Dstltland exchange (“Eurex”) where market
participants trade futures contta and options on bonds, stocksd andices in markets such as
the EURO STOXX market.ld. at 292-93.) In the Eurex exaige, the Trading Surveillance
Office conducts electronic surveillance overtading and reports any suspected violations
directly to both Eurex’s Board of Managemamnid the Exchange Supervisory Authoritid. @t
296-97.) If the Board of Management agreds Wie Trading Survedince Office’s violation
report, it then transfers the reportEarex’s Disciplinary Committee.ld. at 297-98.) The
Disciplinary Committee then ope a formal proceedingld( at 298.) The Committee sends the
investigation report to the market participanspected of committing a trading violation,
notifies it of the alleg@ons, and asks the participant to respond.) (Ultimately, the
Disciplinary Committee makes a final determioatas to whether the participant violated
Eurex’s rules and regulationsld(at 299.) If so, the market piaipant has a righto appeal the

Committee’s findings. I€l. at 299-300.) Indeed, the participant can appeal the Committee’s
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decision to the Administrative Court, the Adnsitrative Court’s decision to the Hessischer
Verwaltungsgerichtshof (“the Highé&dministrative Court”), andn limited circumstances, the
Higher Administrative Court’s decision tbe Federal Administrative Courtld( at 300.)

While working for the Ministry of Economics, Mr. Hiestermann understood the term
“spoofing,” as used in the futures matkto be a trading strategy where

a trading member enters a quantity afexs on one side of the order book. And,

then, after other participants react oaesé orders entered into the order book by

entering orders themsel[ves] on the samde of the ordebook, the trading

member who first entered his order on one side of the order book deletes these

orders and enters one order or more ky@d@ the other side of the order book to

match against the orders which he had attracted into the order book.
(Id. at 294-95.) Further, Mr. Hiestermann dinel Supervisory Exchange authority were
responsible for enforcing Article Jof the Eurex exchange rules,tbe “Market Integrity Rule.”
(Id. at 296.) The Market Integrifule prohibits spoofing by fbidding traders from “sending
misleading signals on the supply and demarfthahcial instruments to the market.ldJ)

On July 11, 2013, the Trading Surveillancii€@ produced an information report to Mr.
Hiestermann at the Exchange Supervisoryhatity and the Eurex Board of Management
flagging Defendants’ &ding patterns in the Eurex exchangel. &t 301; R. 20-10, Certified
Translation of Attachments Producleg Ministry of the State of Hessen, at 18.) Specifically, the
Trading Surveillance Office conducted an ordeok analysis, flagged Dendants’ trading, and
concluded that Defendés were spoofing.ld.) Furthermore, around the same time, Eurex
market participants Blue Fire, Jump Tradingz& @rading, and Citadel dlled complaints with
the Board of Management describing tregactivity in the Eurex order book that Mr.
Hiestermann and the Supervisory ExchaAg#ority considered to be spoofingld.(at 302.)

The market participants were not aware ofttader responsible for this activity given the

market’'s anonymity. I¢.) Mr. Hiestermann, however, datgned that Defendant Oystacher
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was the trader at issue in light oetfirading Surveillance Office’s reportld(at 301.) After
analyzing the Trading Surveillance Office’s refpthe Board of Management concluded that
Defendants’ trading violated Adie 17, the Market Intgity Rule, and refericéthe case to the
Disciplinary Committee. I{. at 303.)

On January 28, 2014, the Disciplinary Coittee opened a formal proceedindd.(R.
20-10 at 18.) The Committee notified Defendants of the allegations, sent Defendants the Trading
Surveillance Office’s report artie Board of Management’s recerénd requested a response.
(Id. at 305.) On April 23, 2014, Defendants respondédi; R. 20-10 at 3—14.)n relevant part,
Defendants summarized their response as follows:

Neither the Trading Supervisory Boardidrex Germany nor the management of
Eurex Germany have explained in caete terms nor proven that Mr. Igor

Oystacher or 3Red violated section 17, para. 2 of the Stock Exchange Ordinance.
It has neither been explained in cogte terms or provethat [Defendant]
Oystacher—erroneously or with antention to deceive—influenced supply,
demand, or price of the products trade&atex-exchanges, nor that he brought
about prices not in line with market condrts or an artificiaprice level. . . .

The trading activities by [Bfendant] Oystacher were not misleading, because all
orders entered by [Defendant] Oystechncluding cancellations, were
economically reasonable and were—eirery case—based on the economic
interest of carrying out business. Contrary to the assumption of the Trading
Supervisory Board of Eurex Germaand the management, [Defendant]
Oystacher had a trading intstavith regards to all orde he entered, especially
regarding the large-volume orders rtiened by the Trading Supervisory Board

of Eurex Germany in its redse to the management. . . .

Even if someone were wrongly to ingate an erroneous or intentionally
deceptive influencing of supply, demand poice of the products traded at Eurex
exchanges, or willful causation of no-market driven prices or an artificial price
level, [Defendant] Oystacher would noteaacted intentionally or negligently,
insofar as he entered all orders with thill to execute them and did not fail to
exercise reasonable carei@sustomary in trading.

(R. 20-10 at 29.)
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On June 24, 2014, after considering, in gagfendants’ response, the Disciplinary
Committee issued a ruling. (Tr. at 3®¥;20-10 at 17-26.) Spdically, the Committee
concluded that Defendant violatédticle 17, the Market IntegritiRule, on five separate trading
events from August 29, 2012, April 15, 2013, and May 13, 20itB.a{ 307-08; R. 20-10 at 20.)
The Committee held that

[i]n all cases, [Defendant Oystacher] ertkorders which ran contrary to his

trading interest. This idemonstrated by the execution of the large-volume orders

on the opposite side of the entered ordénsthis way, [Defendant] deceived

investors about the trdmancial circumstances dfie respective financial

instruments. His order entries do not eeflthe market-driven situation. . . .

[Defendant Oystacher] attempts to explthe deletion of the large-volume orders

after execution of the relatively small-uohe orders on the other side of the

orderbook with his assertion that tenstantly reacts tchanging market

conditions. . . . It is plaible that a mistake about market development can

happen to anyone, even an experienced tldaefDefendant Ogtacher]. Itis

not believable, however, thttte frequent cancellations of the large-volume orders

is based on the correspondingly frequembrs by [Defendant Oystacher] about

future price developments. . . .

An important factor was the fact thatgf@ndant Oystacher], as demonstrated by

his presentations to the sanction cattee, has not suspended his wrongful

behavior, but instead, up to the presentpistinuing it, with harm to other market

participants.

(R. 20-10 at 22—-24.) Consequently, the Coneaifined Defendants ninety-thousand Euros.
(Tr. at 310.) Defendants subsequently appetdledCommittee’s decision to the Administrative
Court. (d.) The Administrative Courhhowever, denied Defendantegppeal and affirmed the
Disciplinary Court’s ruling. If. at 334.) As such, Defendargought leave to appeal the
Administrative Court’s decision to the High Administrative Coultl.)( As of this ruling, the
High Administrative Court has natled on Defendants’ requesid.|

One month later, in July 2014, the TragliSurveillance Office issued another report

flagging Defendantdrading from July 25 and July 30, 2014d.(at 310-11; R. 20-10 at 39.)
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According to the report, Defendant Oystacher stdsengaging in the santeading behavior the
Disciplinary Committee found illegal in June 20148imilar to the first investigation, the Trading
Surveillance Office sent the information reporMo Hiestermann at the Exchange Supervisory
Authority and the Board of Managemenld. (@t 311.) The Board of Management again
concluded that Defendants’ tiagd violated Article 17, the Magk Integrity Rule, and referred
the matter to the Disciplinary Committedd.]f On October 15, 2014, the Disciplinary
Committee opened another formal proceedind. at 311-12; R. 20-10 at 40.) The Committee
notified Defendants of this second report, forwarded the relevant documents, and requested a
response. I¢. at 312.) On December 12, 2014, Defertdaesponded, arguing again, in part,
that Defendant Oystacher “reacts continuously to changing market condititths R.(20-10 at
28-36.) On December 15, 2014, after consigdelDefendants’ response, the Committee
concluded that Defendants’ tiad events on July 25 and July 30, 2014 violated Article 1d.. (
at 314; R. 20-10 at 38-48.) Similar toJtsne 2014 ruling, the Committee found that

[t]his allegation is justified not only becsei of the relationship between the large-

and small-volume orders, as they were etdy [Defendant Oystacher], but also

because of the relationship betwees ¥blumes of the entered orders by

[Defendant Oystacher] in comparison te total volume of aters entered by all

other market participants. . . .

The frequent change [sic] from buyersiller or vice versa are not, however, to

be viewed as individualized tradingasions and do not explain the relationship

between large- and small-volume ordersstéad, this is to be seen as a thought-

out trading strategy.
(Id. at 315; R. 20-10 at 45.) As a result, @@mmittee fined Defendants two-hundred and fifty
thousand Euros.Id. at 317; R. 20-10 at 39.) Defendaalso appealed this decision to the
Administrative Court. Ifl. at 333.) The Administrative Couhtpwever, also denied this appeal

and affirmed the Disciplinary Court’s rulingld( at 334.) Similar to the first ruling, Defendants

sought leave to appeal the Administrative Caudicision to the High Administrative Court.
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(Id.) As of this ruling, however, the High Admstrative Court has not ruled on Defendants’
request. I¢.)

Finally, on March 2, 2015, the Trading Suneriite Office issued another report to Mr.
Hiestermann at the Exchange Supervisory Autyra@nd the Board of Management alleging that
Defendants’ trading on January 28, 2015 violatetitle 17, the Market Integrity RuleId at
318; R. 20-10 at 65.) The investigation theltofged the same procedure detailed above. at
318-24.) On May 15, 2015, Defendants respondBd20-10 at 50-61.) On May 20, 2015, the
Disciplinary Committee issued aling relying, in part, on Defendantesponse. (Tr. at 324; R.
20-10 at 63—74.) According to the Committee, mfdefendants’ trading events on January 28,
2015 violated Article 17.1d.; R. 20-10 at 66.) Notably,eiExchange Council supplemented
Article 17 between theesond and third Disciplinary Committee rulings$d. @t 325-26.)
Specifically, Article 17 now explicitly prohibitsntering orders in the order book without the
intention of tradingon those orders.ld.) The Committee ruled, in part, that Defendants

built up large-volume orders on one safehe orderbook in order to feign

liquidity and interest, respectively, tohetr trading participas. This had the

result that other trading participants eatborders on the same side of the order

book with the same price limit. Subseqtgrihe initially eriered orders were

deleted by [Defendant Oystacher] and were entered on the other side of the

orderbook with identical price limits, whiovere executed against the orders of

the other training [sic] participants.yfical of this procedure was the fast

switching of sides in the orderbobly [Defendant Oystacher].

The order entries of [Defendant Ogsher] were predominantly based on no
detectable trading interest.

This is borne out by the deletion of largolume orders aftgartial execution,
and by the percentage of large-volume osag [Defendant Oystacher] at certain
price levels in relation tthe total volume, which isignificantly high. . . .

The disproportionately large percentagerders by [Defendant Oystacher] at
specific price limits in relation to the total order volume substantiates the
allegation of market manipulation throuiglitiating a trading interest with the
other training [sic] participants. . . .
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It was not possible for many trading particifgn. . to enter orders themselves as
a reaction to the orders fidefendant Oystacher].

(Id. at 326-28; R. 20-10 at 66—70.) As a reshk Committee suspended Defendants from
trading on the Eurex exchange for thirty daythe maximum amount of time the Disciplinary
Committee can prohibit a markgarticipant from trading. Id. at 328—-29.) Similar to the first
two rulings, Defendants appealed thar@uaittee’s third ruling against it.Id. at 331.) The
Administrative Court also denigbis appeal, and Defendants/banot yet received leave to
appeal this decision to titigh Administrative Court. I1¢. at 335-36.)

In March 2014, during the course of theseeistigations, Mr. Hiestermann met directly
with Mr. O’Connor and Mr. Strohmer of 3Redd.(at 330-31.) The 3Red employees requested
the meeting to explain Defendants’ tradingsgies after receing the allegations and
supporting documents from the exchanded. gt 331.) Mr. Hiestermann, however, found that
they “did not explain why in specific caseghich were, for instance, subject to the
[Dlisciplinary [Clommittee’s decisions, [Defenatd Oystacher specifically entered and deleted
the orders and why specifically he jumpmdthe other side of the order bookld.] Instead,
the 3Red employees ontyovided “broad and unspecific” explanationtd.) As a result, Mr.
Hiestermann agreed with the Disciplinaryraittee’s rulings and concluded Defendants’
trading behavior constited spoofing in violation of Articl&7, the Market Itegrity Rule. [d.)

D. Defendants’ Previous Exchange Violations

Defendant Oystacher’s trading in the Cr@igé Copper, Silver, Gold, S&P 500 E-Mini,
ZN, CAX40, Brent Crude Futures, DAX, EuBaden, Euro Bobl, and EURO STOXX markets
has been subject to irstegation for spoofing. Id. at 670-71.) Indeed, Defendant Oystacher’s

trading has triggered inquiries or investigaan every exchange on which he has traded,
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including, in part, the NYMEX, CBIEX, CME, ICE, and Eurex.Id. at 670; CFTC Exh. 215.)
These investigations clearln@ repeatedly informed Defenda@ystacher that his flipping
patterns were problematic undepgable laws and regulations.
1. NYMEX and COMEX

On November 25, 2014, the NYMEX and COMEX Business Conduct Committees found
that Defendants committed rule violations on various trading days between December 2010 and
July 2011 and May and July 2011, respectivéR. 20-8 at 6—7, 9—10.) The NYMEX and
COMEX are commodity futures exchanges owned and operated by the CME. The CME
interviewed Defendant Oystacharthe course of both the NYMEXnd COMEX investigations.
Specifically, on March 3, 2011, the CME inteawed Defendant Oystacher regarding the
NYMEX investigation, informing himin part, that “interesting faus initially isthat we see a
fairly quick flip-flop from the bd side to the sell side, but usitige same tactic of an iceberg on
one side and exposed lots for much greaterasizde opposite side.” (Tr. at 676; CFTC Exh.
213.) In addition, on September 20, 2011, the CME interviewed Defendant Oystacher regarding
the COMEX investigation, informing him that #emed he was “using orders that were visible
on one side of the market” to trade partially ldarders, using icebergs, on the other side of
the market. Ifl. at 681-82; CFTC Exh. 214.) Indkd¢he Exchange notified Defendant
Oystacher that the high percentajevisible, or exposed, orders on one side of the market
suggested that he did not inteto trade those orderdd.(at 683—84.)

In November 2014, the NYMEX concluded that

(1) on several dates between December 2010 and July 2011, [Defendant] entered

bids and offers in Crude Oil futures comtisiin such a manner so as not to have

the requisite intent to trade at the timeooder entry. These bids and offers were

subsequently cancelled by [Defendantig42) in several instances during the

time period in question [Defendant] placed 50-lot iceberg order [sic] showing 1-
lot at or near the best bid/offer on ondesof the market and subsequently placed
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multiple 50-lot non-iceberg orders on the opposite side of the market, also at or

near the best bid/offer. Once trading ceased on his iceberg order, the orders on

the opposite side of the market werenpdetely cancelled by [Defendant], in

many cases less than a secaftdr they were entered.

In determining that the non-iceberg orders were entered without the requisite

intent to be traded, the Panel colesed numerous factors, including the

significant imbalance created by [Detant Oystacher’s] 50-lot non-iceberg

orders, the percentage of large ord=scelled, and the exposure time of the

cancelled orders.

The Panel concluded that by engaginghie foregoing conduct, [Defendant]

violated NYMEX Rules 432.B.2 (tongage in conduct or proceedings

inconsistent with just anequitable principles of tr&) and 432.Q (to engage in

an act which is detrimental to the interest or welfare of the Exchange or to engage

in any conduct which tends to impaietHignity or good name of the Exchange).

(R. 20-8 at 9-10.) The COMEX made the samdifigs with regard to Defendant Oystacher’s
trading in Silver, Gold, and Copper futures markeld. dt 6—7.)

Ultimately, Defendant Oystacher testifie@tiDefendants settled both the NYMEX case
and the COMEX case, neither admitting nor denying the rule violations or related findohgs. (
at 9; Tr. at 685.) Pursuant to the seteimthe NYMEX fined Defendant Oystacher one
hundred thousand dollars, suspended DefendastbClyer's CME membership privileges for
one month, and completely banned Defendarst&pher from trading or accessing the CME for
one month, dating from November 28 to December 28, 2a#i4at(10; Tr. at 686.) Likewise,
the COMEX fined Defendant Oystacher fifty tisaund dollars and initiated the same one month
bans on his CME membership and trading privilegés. af 7; Tr. at 685.)

2. CME

The CME also investigated Defendant Oystacher’s trading activities on other occasions.

(Tr. at 688—-89.) Indeed, the CME interviewed Defendant Oystacher on more than one occasion

from June or July 2013 to April 2014ld(; CFTC Exh. 216.) Specifically, the CME

investigated Defendant Oystaxts trading days in Augusind September 2013 and expressed
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interest in his flipping activity. Id. at 690-91; CFTC Exh. 216.) Indeed, during the interview,
the CME told Defendant Oystacher, “you’re a macéve flipper than most people. . . . [Y]our
flipping occurs quite a bit . . . I mean, in just the five-year, you had 273 of these market trading
orders, and it was all one day, and, you know, | ditnk we’re seeingray market participant
that reaches those kind of levels, so it se&mbe a big part of your strategyfd.(at 694; CFTC
Exh. 216.) The CME also asked Defendant Oystashether he was placing “orders . . . in the
book to ideally flip the market te placed in the book so that othet#l join so that [he] can

flip the market and captusny additional volumel[.]” Ifl. at 703—-04; CFTC Exh. 216.)
Additionally, one of Defendar®ystacher’s attorneys met with the head of CME’s global
enforcement counsel in July or August 2014l. &t 704.) Defendant Oystacher became aware
that the attorneys discussed the guidance comgeflipping in the CME group draft rule that,
eventually, became Rule 579d.) Defendant Oystacher alssairned that Rule 575 went into
effect on September 15, 2014d.(at 706.)

On September 15 and 17, 2015, the CMErvieved Defendant Oystacher again and
informed him that it had received market pap@nt complaints about his trading activityd.(at
706-07.) Specifically, the CME informed Defend@®ystacher thatstinvestigation was
focused on his flipping activity.Id. at 707.) Later, in Feuary 2016, the CME notified
Defendant Oystacher that itdheeceived a complaint abousHlipping activityin the ZN
market. [d. at 710.) The CME informed Defendddystacher that it was considering a
summary action to temporarily rek@ his trading privileges imndéately on or before February
16, 2016. Id. at 714.) In this meeting, the CME described some of the market participant

complaints to Defendant Oystacher. SubsatiyeDefendant Oystachghis lawyer, and his
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compliance officer responded to some of @E’s concerns by discussing several of the
identified problematic tradesld( at 717-19.)
3. ICE

By June 27, 2012, Defendant Oystacher leathatthe Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
(“ICE”) Europe was investigating $itrading activity in the Brent Crude Futures contract market.
(Id. at 719-20.) On June 25, 2012 and Febr@dr2013, the ICE Europe sent Defendant
Oystacher’s clearing firm lette describing its concerngd(at 720.) Defendant Oystacher was
aware of these lettersld( at 723.) Specifically, the EEEurope informed Defendant
Oystacher’s clearing firm that it was goinginestigate circumstances concerning multiple
occasions where he placed large orders irgontharket, giving the impression of market depth,
and cancelled them immediately before placing mrdéthe same level in the opposite direction.
(Id. at 721.) The ICE Europesal concluded, after its owngdiminary investigation, that
Defendant Oystacher’s trading presented a prangefcase of “disorderlytirading patterns.Id.
at 723.) In light of the investigation, Defgant Oystacher stopped trading on the ICE Europe
Brent contract as of November 16, 201R. &t 721.) In Februar®013, Defendant Oystacher’s
chief compliance officer met with the ICE Be, and Defendant Oystacher learned of ICE
Europe’s conclusions.ld. at 723.)

On March 26, 2013, Defendant Oystacher alstigggated in a telghone interview with
the ICE US that had opened an inigegtion into his trading activities.Id. at 741.) On June 5,
2015, the ICE US Business Conduct Committee falsnd that Defendants had committed rule
violations on a number of trading days betw8eptember and December 2012. (R. 20-8 at 8.)
Specifically, the ICE US fountthat Defendants violated

Exchange Rule 4.04 by engaging in conductiahetntal to the beshterests of the
Exchange in the Russell 2000 Mini Futsi(éTF”) contract between September
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2012 and December 2012 by engaging in a pattern of trading activity where he

would enter buy or sell orders on one sii¢he market at different price levels

and subsequently cancel such orderslose time proximity to trades the

[Defendant] executed on the opposite of the market.
(Id.) In June 2015, Defendants setttbe case with the ICE USId(; Tr. at 743—-44; Def. Exh.
D243.) As such, the ICE fined Defendants onedned twenty five thousand dollars and issued
Defendants a cease and desist ordiet.) (

4. EUREX

As described in more detail above, thedxualso found that Defendants had committed
rule violations in a number @k markets in three separatéimgs. These violations were
premised on the same general pattern of ftiggctivity in Defendant Oystacher’s trades on
which the other exchange violations weesed. First, in June 2014, the exchange’s
Disciplinary Committee found that Defendsarrading in August 2012, April 2013, and May
2013 across the DAX, Euro-Bund, Euro-Bobl, #dRO STOXX 50 marketgiolated Article
17 of the Eurex exchange rules and regulationgyeMarket Integrity Rie. According to Mr.
Hiestermann of the Exchange Supervisory Authority in Hesse, Germany, Eurex found that
Defendants were spoofing their markets. Aesult, Eurex fined Defelants ninety thousand
Euros. Second, in December 2014, the Dis@py Committee found that Defendants were
committing the same rule violations in tAB&X and EURO STOXX futures markets in July
2014, one month after Eurex’s first ruling.c@rdingly, Eurex finedefendants two hundred
and fifty thousand Eurog=inally, in May 2015, the Discimary Committee found that
Defendants were again committing the precise rule violations in the Euro-Bobl futures markets
in January 2015, one month after Eurex’sosekruling. As such, Eurex completely banned

Defendants from the exchange for thirty daythke maximum suspension Eurex can impose.

Defendants appealed all three of thesengdito the Administrative Court, and the
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Administrative Court denied Defendants’ aapand affirmed all three of the rulings.
Defendants are currently awaiting leave from ithgh Administrative Court to appeal the
Administrative Court’s decisions.

E. Expert Witnesses

1. CFTC Expert Professor Hendrik Bessembinder

Professor Bessembinder is a Professor of Finance at Arizona State University with a
Bachelor’s degree in Business from Utah &taniversity, an M.B.A. from Washington State
University, and a Ph. D. with a major in Finance and a minor in Business Economics and
Research Methods from the University of Wasjton. (Tr. at 1456.) He also has served as a
Professor of Finance at the University oAt Emory University, rad the University of
Rochester. I1(l.) Professor Bessembinder has tawghariety of classeincluding, in part,
Introductory MBA Corporate Finaeg International Finance, fues and Options, and Ph. D.-
level courses in financial marketdd.(at 1456-57.) Apart from teaching, Professor
Bessembinder is currently the managing editor oflthenal of Financial and Qualitative
Analysisand the associate editor of b@keneral Financial Economicand theJournal of
Financial Markets (Id. at 1457.) Throughout the coursihis research, Professor
Bessembinder has published over thirty tihy& and “empirical” academic papers on
commodity markets and market microstruetover the last twenty yeardd.(at 1457-59.)
Indeed, Professor Bessembinder specializes arkKet microstructure”—tie study of trading,
in particular, trading in finacial and commodity markets, everything from order submission
strategies, market rulesni@d market liquidity[.]” (d. at 1457.) In addition, Professor
Bessembinder has served as an expert in éagalsing market manipaition “several times”

and, specifically, cases reging the economic practiad spoofing, “[tjwice.” (d. at 1461-62.)
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Professor Bessembinder had an “economisigerstanding” of the term spoofing “as
opposed to a legal schorinterpretation.” Id. at 1460.) He defined spoofing as follows:

So | understand spoofing to be a stratelggo think the sports analogy is a useful
one. Essentially, it's fake left, go right.o¥ fake left to try to get a reaction from

your opponent so that you can take advantageatfreaction. So that’s the sports
analogy.

More specifically, spoofingtrategies in the financial markets, as | understand
them, involve the submission of orders on sitke of the market without intent to
execute those orders.

The intent, instead, is to elicit a reactifrom other market participants. In
particular, if other market participantslieee as a basis—as a consequence of the
spoof orders, the fake orders, if they beliévat that's an indication of change in
supply and demand conditions or if they bed that’s indicative of a likely future
price change, they can respond by—potdiytrespond by adding more orders on
the side of your—of your spoof ordersrat withdrawing orders that they might
have otherwise withdrawn.

So the entry of the spoof orders is thieefa The desired reaction is the entry of
additional orders on the sarsiele as your spoof orders.

Why do you do all this? Because you attjuaanted to trade in the opposite

direction of your spoof orderdf . . . other peopldo react in this manner, you

can benefit from their reactions by getfisome combination of better prices for

the orders that you actually wanted tade or higher fill rate on the orders you

wanted to trade.
(Id. at 1460-61.)

a. Professor Bessembinder’'s Methodology

The Court has carefully reviewed and ddesed Professor Bessembinder’s hearing
testimony and expert reports. Professor Bebseder's opinions at the hearing were well
supported and based on sound fdamnaerpinnings and analysis.

In 2014, the CFTC hired Professor Bessarder to “analyze market data and conduct
statistical tests that had potentio shed light on the questi@of whether spoofing activity had

occurred or not.” Ifl. at 1464—65.) Professor Bessembindeyaed two types of data: market
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data, or limit order book data, and order data. Madtkéd is “a continuousecord of the best bid
price, best offer price in the market, as weltresnumber of ordersswling and the number of
contracts on those orders residatghe bid price and the offprice and, in addition, the same
information for up to ten additional pe levels beyond the bid and the askd.)( The market
data is “what active market participamtsuld have observed on those datesd. &t 1467.)
Order data, however, is a “non-pigldata set . . . [that incled] a record of every order
submission, every cancellation, and every traadeglith descriptive iformation like the size
of the order, whether it was an iceberg orded an indicator, the §&0 indicator . . . that
indicates who was the trader [sic] that was submitting this order or on this trélg.” (
Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder analy#temlisands of trades and over one hundred
gigabytes of market data from both Defendamis other market participants across the Crude
Oil market, the Natural Gas mket, the Copper market, the X’ market, and the ES market
during “sixty trading dates rangirigpm December 2011 to May 2015.1d( at 1467—-68; R. 20-
4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 5.) He later reviewed datan the ZN market from two trading days in
February 2016.14.; R. 134, CFTC Exh. 95.) These sixtye dates and six markets were based
on “complaints from market parti@pts . . . [and] on Ms. McCormackisvestigative work.”
(Id. at 1466.) Specifically, Pre§sor Bessembinder reviewed 85,110 of Defendant Oystacher’s
orders and more than 151 noli market data recordsld(at 1477-78; CFTC Exh. 234.) For
some of his analysis, Professor Bessembinerrelneall of this aggregate market data. For
other parts of his analysis, hewer, Professor Bessembinder éimel CFTC identified and used a

number of particular parameters to limit theerall data to a particat subset of flips.

7 As explained earlier, Ms. McCormick is a Serfiatures Trading Investigator with the CFTC.

45



Professor Bessembinder first filtered the urseeof data using ‘dipping pattern” he
identified in Defendant Oystacher’s trade daAa. defined by Professor Bessembinder, “a flip is
a case where a given trader cancels an ordegramere orders, and essentially simultaneously
enters orders in the opposite direatat the same price or betterld.(at 1480.) Indeed,
Professor Bessembinder’s “interest was gsthessentially simultaneous eventsd.)(
Specifically, “[a] flip refers to [the] cancetian of an order followedtby an opposite side order
entry within 0.005 seconds and at the samigetter price.” (CFTC Exh. 235.) Regarding the
speed of these flips, Profes®@ssembinder further explained,

[tlhe cancellation and the entry of the opp®slirection order, they often had

exactly the same time stamp, but theyndi always have exactly the same time

stamp. The very large maijty of the cases, the ordeon the two sides had the

same or . . . one millisecond differenceheir time stamps. But not wanting to

miss any, | added what | think was a gemsrmargin for computer latencies that

are generating . . . this mismatch iniighand consideredpposite-side orders

out to five milliseconds after the cancel. .There was [sic] very few with more

than one millisecond difference.

(Tr. at 1480-81.) Throughout hisaysis, Professor Bessembindefiereed to orders that were
cancelled in a flip as “cancel-side orders” andeos that were entered in the opposite direction
after the cancellation as “trade-side ordersd. &t 1481-82.) As described in more detalil
below, Professor Bessembinder concluded‘ftipping, as measured by the percentage of
[trader] accounts that flip, is rare. The very &rmgajority in most of thse markets right in the
vicinity of 99 percent othe accounts never engageeiwen a single flip.” Ifl. at 1490.) In stark
contrast, Defendant Oystachdtimately had 28,642 cancel-sideders that fit the “flipping
pattern” definition. Id. at 1560; CFTC Exh. 234.)

Professor Bessembinder then filtered thosip™brders using what he referred to as

“narrowing criteria.” (d. at 1556.) Specifically, the four mawing criteriaincluded orders:

1. placed and canceled in less than a second,
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2. that at least doubled the quantity ohtracts that was already in the limit
order book at the relevant prices,

3. that were placed at an existing price—i.e., did not establish a new best bid
or offer, and

4, that were fully visible to thenarket—i.e., not iceberg orders.

(Id. at 1556—-60; CFTC Exh. 235.) Professor Besseddniexplained that these criteria aimed to
filter Defendant Oystacher’s orders down to discover whether any of his trades demonstrated a
systematic creation of order imbat&n supporting the spoofing hypothesikl.)( He concluded

that a number of Defendant Oystacher’s orders did.

Nearly 5,300 of Defendant Oystacher’s aargide orders demonstrated all four
“narrowing criteria.” (d. at 1559-60; CFTC Exh. 234.) The first criterion, as described in more
detail below, focused on Defendant Oystachieelsavior in the second prior to the flip.

Professor Bessembinder found that “[t]he largemqities entered in that last second on the
cancel side [and] the diminishede of icebergs|,] or the disfy of more when the iceberg

option was used[,] . . . suppadtéhe hypothesis that [Defendptystacher was engaged in
spoofing.” (d. at 1557-58.) The second, “doublingriterion focused on Defendant
Oystacher’s order quantities and was meantter fout “cases where only an imbalance of one
or two or three contragtwas created,” focusing instead ‘cases where there was a substantive
imbalance created.”ld. at 1558.) The third criterion focusen Defendant Oystacher’s alleged
spoof orders’ price aggressivenedascribed in more detail b&lpto determine whether he was
“more inclined to place orders behind existorgers, where they would have a lower probability
of execution.” [d. at 1558-59.) Finally, the fourth critem excluded iceberg orders, detailed
further below, making the orders fullysible to other markggarticipants. Ifl. at 1559.) In

total, the narrowed set of @aincludes 5,296 cancel-side arsleexcluding icebergs, and 1,595
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trade-side orders. This narrowed data setttatess Defendant Oystache trades charged in
the Complaint as set forth above.
b. Defendant Oystacher’s Trading Pattern

Reviewing these orders in the aggregatefddsor Bessembinder identified a “pattern” in
Defendant Oystacher’s tradinghaior that he opined suppadlta “spoofing hypothesis.” (Tr.
at 1512.) Professor Bessembinder admitted thaté'tiseno established template for testing for
spoofing.” (d. at 1510-11.) Instead, he reviewedddelant Oystacher’s and other market
participants’ trades to assess whether thgyperted the conclusion that Defendant Oystacher
“was spoofing” or the conclusidhat he “intended to execubeit change[d] his mind[.]” I¢. at
1512.) In other words,

[tihe second of those, that [Defend@ystacher] just changes his mind, that

would be based on something happened [sic] to cause him to change his mind,

something unexpected. If these many, miipg that we see occurred because

repeatedly something happened that ssep [Defendant] Oystacher, something

he wasn't anticipating but he saw, something new or had some other change of

heart that couldn’t have been predictedt ¥as all just surprises that caused

change of mind, there really shouldn’tdoey pattern in his der entry behavior

prior to these unpredidtée changes of mind.

On the other hand, the spoofing hypotkeswhich, again, to go to the simple

sports analogy is fake left, go right—theoofing hypothesis says there should be

a pattern ahead of the flips. In pautar, there should be a pattern by which we

see the fake left. What is the fake Peffake left is @ation [sic] of order

imbalances prior to the change of mind.
(Id. at 1512-13.) Ultimately, Professor Bessemhimiesented five statistically significant
findings that he concluded illustrate a pattern in Defendant Oystacher’s trading behavior that is
highly consistent with the spoofing hypothesi$ese findings are persuasive. Professor
Bessembinder did not, howeverake a “legal conclusion.”ld. at 1648.) Instead, Professor

Bessembinder concluded that thega “was highly consistemiith the spoofing hypothesis.”

(Id.) As explained in further detdklow, Professor Bessembinder found that
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1. Defendant Oystacher’s scale of flippiagtivity was far out of proportion to his
size in the market.

2. Defendant Oystacher relied tnade-side flip orders fdrade executions to an
extent that was entirely unique acrtissusands of market participants.

3. Defendant Oystacher systematically credéede order imbalances in favor of the
cancel side of the visible limit der book just before he flipped.

4, Defendant Oystacher’s cancel-side osdeere anomalous as benchmarked
against his own non-flip ordeos his trade-side orders.

5. The general pattern of Defendant Oysta&horder entry and cancellation around
flips has been largely unchanged insiarkets and over more than four calendar
years.

(Id. at 1610-1615; CFTC Exh. 237.)

Specifically, Professor Bessembinder examimegart, four categaes of behavior and
associated effects that he concluded, wiasiclered in the aggregatcomprise a trading
pattern that supports thep@ofing hypothesis:” order quatss, iceberg orders, price
aggressiveness and order examutand cancellation speed. Theu@ details each category in
turn below. Importantly, all of these categsriaccording to Professor Bessembinder, help
illustrate the “key issue”—Defendant Oystacher’s systematic creation of order imbalance prior to
a flip event, supporting thspoofing hypothesisld; at 1529.)

I. Order Quantities

“[QJuantities matter in these markets” becaaéhe resulting order book imbalances.
(Id. at 1493.) “An imbalanced book basically megou have more ability to trade immediately
on one side of the market than the othkoutd you wish to. And imbalance in the book is
potentially informative of conditions in the underlying supply and demand.”a{ 1473.) Put
differently,

[t]he relevance of a spoofirgjrategy is that the entof the spoof orders on one
side of the market creates what can e kthink has been termed an imbalance,
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an imbalance in the limit order book. Iptausible, even likely, that people

observing the book will . . . tarpret an imbalance in the book as a change in

supply and demand conditions in the markstsany imbalance on the buy side is

quite plausibly interpreted ascireasing demand and vice versa.

(Id. at 1464.) As such, Defendant Oystacherter quantities compared to other market
participants are relevant, §a]n imbalance of one cordct in the book, who knows if anybody
would even notice it[.] . . . A large imbalancansre noticeable than a small imbalance, other
things equal.” Id. at 1493.)

Defendant Oystacher’s particular quantiiésancel and trade-side order entries
illustrate a number of uniform characteristics across five markets. Specifically, Defendant
Oystacher 1) entered more cancel-side orthens all other flipping market participants
combined, 2) cancelled a larger share of his tot@red orders than allloér market participants
combined, 3) accelerated his cancel-side ordeiesritie closer he got to his flip event, 4)
created a cancel-side order bawibalance both ithe overall market ahwithin his own
trading, and 5) entered more teaside orders compared to nftip-orders. Importantly, where
applicable, the probability values (“p-valueggmonstrate that each of the relative differences
described below were statistically significantggesting that they did not consistently occur by
chance. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94.)

A. Quantity of Cancellations

Defendant Oystacher often cancelled thedatggumber of contracts among all market
participants engaged in flip orders. Dafant Oystacher cancella total of 1,671,304 ES
contracts during December 2013 and January 2014, for example, while the second largest
cancelling participantancelled 75,327.1d. at 17.) The same sigrgnt difference holds true

across five other markets: @adant Oystacher cancelled 5883 VIX contracts compared to

the second largest 15,309; 300,299 ES contradgpiiihand May 2015, compared to the second
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largest 39,079; 83,451 Copper caats compared to the s largest, 3,325; 77,931 Natural
Gas contracts compared to gexond largest 9,054; and 40,408id& Oil contracts compared to
the second largest 2,55dd.(at 15.)

Moreover, Defendant Oystacher cancelledertban all of the other trading accounts
combined (Id.) Inthe ES market during December 2013 and January 2014, for example,
Defendant Oystacher’s 1,671,304 conticaicellations were largerah the rest of the market
participants’ 387,034 total.Id. at 16.) Again, this holds trwgeross five markets: Defendant
Oystacher’s 519,573 cancelled VI¥rdracts were more than that market’s 34,790 total; his
300,299 cancelled ES contracts in April andyN815 were more than that market's 160,785
total; his 83,451 cancell€dopper contracts were more thtwat market’'s 3,854 total; his 77,931
cancelled Natural Gas contracts were more than that market's 14,919 total; and his 40,403
cancelled Crude Oil contracts were more than that market’'s 7,388 toteht 15-16.)

B. Percentage of Total Orders Cancelled

Professor Bessembinder also credibly demonstrated that Defendant Oystacher cancelled
larger portions of his total entered orders upqpfig as compared to ather participants in
each relevant market. In other words, Defen@argtacher’s cancellations the flip were larger
than other participants’ in both sddute size and relativahare of total entered orders. Defendant
Oystacher cancelled 36.9 percehhis Natural Gas contracter example, while all other
participants combined cancelled only 0.3 percéRt. 134, CFTC Exh. 95, at 12.) He cancelled
35.2, 33.4, and 25.7 percent of his VIX, Crude &ilgd Copper contracts, respectively, while the
rest of participants in those marketmncelled 0.1 percent in all thredd.] Finally, during
December 2013 and January 2014, Defendant Oystacher cancelled 29.5 percent of his ES

contracts, and all other market peigants cancelled only 0.6 percentd.)
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C. Acceleration of Cancel-Side Orders in Seconds
Approaching Flip Event

Defendant Oystacher alsodered a higher number of cafsa&le contracts one second
before the impending flip event as comparedadier seconds. Pdifferently, Defendant
Oystacher accelerated his cancel-sidetract entry rate as he got @oso the flip event. (Tr. at
1519, “[T]he term I've been usinggcceleration, refers to the fabat . . . the size of the
contribution to the imbalance is becoming largewaget close to the flip and, in particular, in
the last second.”) Five seconds before Defen@gstacher’s flip event in the Crude Oil market,
for example, he was ordering 17.42 cancel-smi@racts per seconqR. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94,
at 81.) Attwo seconds before cancelingfddeant Oystacher was ordering 21.77 cancel-side
contracts per secondld() At one second, however, hesmardering 73.75 cancel-side contracts
per second.Id.) This trend holds true across four other markets at issue. Indeed, Defendant
Oystacher’s cancel-side contracter rate per second acaelkes from 14.95 contracts per
second at five seconds out from the flip everi@al9 contracts per second at one second out in
the Natural Gas market; from 17.04 to 57.35 @iy per second in the Copper market; from
25.78 to 68.81 contracts per second in the Miatket; and from 73.80 to 276.56 contracts per
second in the ES market during June 2018.a{ 81-83.) Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder
concluded that “there was systematically creatiar] & order imbalances in favor of the side of
the upcoming cancel. And that creation was more diaas we got closer to the flip.” (Tr. at
1517.) Moreover, he explained that

| wouldn’t . . . really expct to see that in any market there was systematic

creation of order imbalances ahead offtipeif the flips were in response to

unpredictable surprises in the markesome change of mind that couldn’t have

been predicted. So, under the changeifd reasoning, | wouldn’t expect to see
this pattern in any market, much less in all five markets.
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On the other hand, under the spoofing hypothesis, . . . we should see evidence of
the fake, the creation of the order imbakscWe should expect to see it in any
time period where spoofing wasgaged in systematically.
(Id. at 1526-27.)
D. Cancel-Sidelmbalance
1. Market Imbalance: Defendant
Oystacher’s Cancel-Side Order
Magnitude Relative to Market’s Resting
Orders at Time of Entry
Additionally, the narrowed data illustratestiibefendant Oystacher’s cancel-side order
entries were much larger in magnitude than thekets total number of alers already resting in
the limit order book at the event price or bettethattime he entered them. Specifically, in the
Crude Oil market, Defendant Oystacher pla@&d times as many cancel-side order entries as
cancel-side orders already restinghe book at that particular ent price or better when he
placed the orders. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 3his pattern existed in other markets as well.
Indeed, Defendant Oystacher placed 17.10 timesaay cancel-side orders in the Natural Gas
market, 18.77 times as many in the Copper market, 16.96 times as many in the VIX market, and
9.96 times as many in the ES market during June 20d3. This large increase, relative to the
pre-existing orders, Professor Bessembindacimled, created a market imbalance in the
various markets’ displayed limit order book. “[T]fet that there was multiple orders entered
within each of the events . . . raises at leaspibssibility that other nnleet participants would
believe that cancel-side orderg @oming from more than one market participant. If it had all
been entered in one order, it would have beerm tleas from just one market participant.” (Tr.
at 1564.) Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder aged that “these weneery large multiples.

In each of the markets and time periods, these were large multiples. . . . [O]n average across flip

events in every contract markéts order entry was large comedrto what was already on the
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books. It was just too large to not notice for someone paytegtion to the market.”Iq. at
1570.)
2. Defendantimbalance: Unexecuted
Cancel-Side Orders Relative to Total
Unexecuted Orders Before Flip Event

Defendant Oystacher’s cancel-side orders edpoesented an imbalance within his own
order book. Id. at 1578; CFTC Exh. 183.) SpecificalBrofessor Bessembinder “measured the
guantity of contracts outstandiog the buy side and the quantityaaitracts outstanding on the
sell side. Then, based on the measure of contracts outstanding on each side, [he] created a
measure of how balanced or imbalanced his bookaivést point in time. So, . . . [he] took the
difference—the imbalance, if you will—. . . bes@n quantity on the buy side and quantity on the
sell side, and expressed that as a percentage of the total quantity on the two lsidasI578—
79.) At one millisecond before the flip evebgfendant Oystacher’s unexecuted cancel-side
orders nearly always represented a majoritigistotal unexecuted orders in both the narrowed
and full data sets.Id. at 1580—-81.) In the narrowed sétfatural Gas market, for example,
Defendant Oystacher’s unexecuted cancel-sidersrrepresented 90.32 percent of his total
unexecuted market at one millisecond beforellpsefent. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 32.) The
same imbalance in his book oc@drin at least four other magts, where Defendant Oystacher’s
unexecuted cancel-side orders represented @&rt2nt of his total unexecuted VIX orders,
82.69 percent of his total unexecuted ES wde June 2013, 76.62 percent of his total
unexecuted Copper orders, and D5&rcent of his total unexecuted Crude Oil ordelis.) (
Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder convincingly concluded,

[tihe main point to be noted here isthhe cancellations did not come at times

when [Defendant] Oystacher’s personal beas balanced, but rather it came at
times—systematically came at times when his personal book was highly
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imbalanced to the cancel side. He pesdly had far more orders on the cancel
side than he did on the opposside at the time of the flip.

It's really just another waof showing that his order entry has contributed to an

imbalance in the book. . . . And it just veesithat, as of the time of the flip, he

has contributed to an imbalanioefavor of the cancel side.

And his personal imbalancessbstantial. These areghipercentages. In some

of the markets, he is close to beinlgumdred percent of his orders on the cancel

side.
(Tr. at 1579-80.)

E. Non-Flip Versus TradeSide Order Quantities

Finally, Defendant Oystacher’s trading pattesignificantly differed between his non-
flip and flip transactions. Spédially, Defendant Oysta@r entered more traeside orders after
flip events than during non-flip trangams. During December 2013 and January 2014, for
example, Defendant Oystacher only entered anaae of 251.62 orders mon-flip transactions
in the ES market. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, &) 3After flip events, however, Defendant
Oystacher entered an averag®84.66 trade-side orders iretfull data set and 774.48 trade-
side orders across the narrowed data ddt) Eurther, Defendant Gjacher’s avage non-flip
order entries for the VIX, Crude Oil, Natl Gas, and Copper mkats were only 110.39, 21.49,
15.22, and 12.04, respectivelfd.] His average trade-side oramtries following flip events in
these markets were higher: 416.17 and 404.19 a&fBgentries across the full and narrowed
data set, respectively; 48.76 and 49.93 awefamide Oil entries; 35.08 and 32.96 average
Natural Gas entries; and 28.27 é&134 average Copper entriesd.

il. “Iceberg” Orders
Defendant Oystacher’s partiemluse of iceberg orderssalfollowed a trading pattern

consistent with the spoofing hypothesis. (Tr.%28) Traders have the option to enter orders as

iceberg orders in all futures mkats except the VIX marketld;) An iceberg order, “also
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known as a hidden quantity order, is an order tfffered by certain designated contract markets
on electronic trading platformshose order quantities (i.e.,mber of contracts) are only
partially visible in the Order Book to other marletrticipants.” (R. 1 at 8; Tr. at 1528-29.)
Iceberg orders, similar to order aniigies, can contribute to ttikey issue” of the “systematic
creation of order imbalance priorfigps.” (Tr. at 1529.) Indeed,

going back to the sports analogy, if yayponent doesn’t see your fake, it's not

going to work. People don'’t react to atlthey don’t degct. If the order

imbalance is big, but the iceberg functiomuged to hide most of the size, it's

unlikely you're going to get a reaction. Pemplbn’t react to what they can’t see.

On the other hand, if you elect to not use iteberg function, #n it ensures that

the order size is fully displayed. Sodianinishing rate of iceberg usage implies

that—well, when the iceberg option is nated, we know that the order was fully

displayed to the market. If the icebengtion is used, only a portion of the order

is displayed to the market.
(Id. at 1529-30.)

Specifically, Professor Bessembinder dastrated that Defendant Oystacher
consistently altered his icebesgder usage depending on a numtifdiactors: 1) whether he was
approaching a flip event, 2) whether he wageng cancel-side or traeside orders, and 3)

whether he was engaging in nfip-or flip transactions.

A. Cancel-Side “Iceberg” Order Reduction in
Seconds Approaching Flip Event

Not only did Defendant Oystacher consistemttgelerate his cancebe trade order rate
as he approached impending flip events, buddweased his icebergder usage. In other
words, Defendant Oystacher made a lower pergenthis cancel-side ders icebergs in the
final seconds leading up to the flgwent. The data “showed muctore order entry in that last
second. . . . [I]n addition, virtually all of that whaly displayed to the market in the last second.

So, the icebergs are disappearing orctrecel side in the last secondld.(at 1530.) In the
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Copper market, for example, 28.88 percent of Dedmt Oystacher’s cancel-side orders were
icebergs at five seconds before the flip evd®. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 82.) At two seconds
before the flip event, his iceberg use droppett®4 percent. Finally, @ne second before the
flip event, only 3.46 percent of Defendant Oyktts cancel-side ordevgere icebergs. This
iceberg reduction trend existedeach market that allowed iaalg orders. Indeed, Defendant
Oystacher’s iceberg usage dropiexn 56 percent at five seconds before the flip event to 2.39
percent at one second out in the Crude Oiketafrom 27.58 percent to 1.44 percent in the
Natural Gas market; and from 22.92 percent 1@ @ercent in the ES market during June 2013.
(Id. at 81-83.) The VIX market did not allow i@l orders during the levant time periods.
Professor Bessembinder cautioned that “he never. saidnd the [CFTC] never said that there’s
anything improper in the use afebergs per se.” (Tr. at 1532.) Instead, “[tlhe anomalous thing
is . . . the low rate of iceberg usage on the casidel in particular on theancel side in the last
second, that's anomalous as compared to [Defegh@ystacher’'s own behavior at other times.”
(1d.)

Professor Bessembinder conducted the samagysis on Defendant Oystacher’'s ZN
market data from February 2016d.(at 1542; R. 134, CFTC Exh. 95Generally, “the evidence
shows that for this market and time periad well, [Defendant] Oystacher was, indeed,
systematically creating order imbalances in ttewsds prior to the flip. . . . On average, he’s
entering more orders on the same side as themipgacancel as compared to the other side. As
a matter of fact, in the last two seconds, he’sembéring anything at all on the other side. All of
the entries come in on the cancel siddd. &t 1543.) The ZN market data, however, differed
from the other markets. “[I]n contrast to thé@t markets, the last sewd is not so uniquely

different from immediatel preceding seconds.1d() Specifically, in tie last second before the
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flip event, there was no longan average acceleration of argslguantities or reduction in
iceberg usage.ld.) In fact, Defendant Oystachegstries almost disappearedd.)

Professor Bessembinder opined that “wheatestrategy [Defendant] Oystacher [was]
using, he . . . slowed it down.l1d{ at 1544.) “In short,” he exgined, “[Defendant] Oystacher’s
overall pattern of behavior around flips has remained consistent even in February 2016, but his
strategy unfolds less quickly and involves lessaare size.” (R. 134, CFTC Exh. 95, at 32.) As
such, Professor Bessembinder “zoom[ed] out” hedyais and “look[ed] at a longer interval out
to 30 seconds” and, “instead of looking at indual seconds, . . . put it into five-second
buckets.” (Tr. at 1544, 1546-47; CFTC Exh67, 175-77.) Additionally, the 2016 data
allowed Professor Bessembinder to examine each iceberg order’s “displayed size,” whereas the
2013 data did not.Id. at 1538, 1547.) In other words, theadeevealed the number of exposed
and hidden contracts—the percentage efdirder displayed and concealed—beyond simply
identifying whether an ordevas an iceberg or not.

This new analysis demonstrated that Defemdaystacher's ZN magk “overall pattern
[was] very similar to what it was earlier, but it [was] not implemented in exactly the same
way[.]” (Id. at 1545.) Specifically,

when you step back to 30 seconds whén you look at the number of exposed

contracts . . . there is both creatiorirabalances and acceleration. . . . More

exposed contracts are being enterethenside of the upcoming cancel as

compared to the other side. So, imba&is being createdithin each bucket.

And, once again, we can observe—oncestep back to a wider view, we can

observe—acceleration in that the numbkexposed contracts is, on average,

increasing as we get closer to the flip.

(Id. at 1548-49.) Further, although Defendant @giser was using more icebergs during this

time period, he was “also exposintpeger proportion of his ordelSo he [was] using the option

to hide some of it but exposing a larger proportian.So we see asymmetry across sides of the
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market with a higher percentage being exposed on the cancel dtleat ¥549-50.) Notably,
“a spoofing trader might elect tse the iceberg option on some dparalers, either as part of a
randomization strategy or because the displayetion of the order is large enough to convey
the desired impression to other market pgodiots.” (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 17 n.12.)

Ultimately, Defendant Oystacher’s ZN markigtta revealed that, “[a]t the big-picture
level, [Defendant Oystacher was] still creatimdpalances in favor of the cancel side. And on
average, he [was] still accelerating the magniwfdée imbalance creation as we get closer to
the flip.” (Id. at 1550-51.)

B. Cancel-Side Versus Trade-Side “Iceberg” Order
Usage

Further, Defendant Oystacher’s iceberg esdiffered across his cancel and trade-side
order entries. Specifically, DefermtaDystacher utilized the icelgefunction at a higher rate in
his trade-side orders compared to his cancg-srders. Put differently, Defendant Oystacher
displayed a lower percentage of his trade-sidker entries and a higher percentage of his
cancel-side order entries. Thiend occurred in both the full amérrowed sets of data. In the
full data set’s Crude Oil market, for examd,03 percent of Defenda@lystacher’s overall
trade-side orders were icebergsile only 5.82 percent of his camsde orders were icebergs.
(R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 39.) The same paitepresent in all marketthat allowed iceberg
orders. Specifically, icebergs comprised 828 ent of Defendant Gtacher’s trade-side
orders and 2.21 percent of ke@ncel-side orders in the Natu@as market; 68.81 percent of his
trade-side orders and 5.08 percent of hixehside orders in the Copper market; and 66.31
percent of his trade-side orders compare2l 8@ percent of his canceldsi orders in the ES
market during June 2013Id(; Tr. at 1575-76; CFTExh. 179) The same trend existed in the

narrowed data set: icebergs comprised 96.6 peotdns trade-side orders and 0.63 percent of
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his cancel-side orders in the Crude Oil m&rB8.34 percent of hisdde-side orders and 0.19
percent of his cancel-side ord@nghe Natural Gas market; 72.94@ent of his trade-side orders
and 0.24 percent of his cancel-side ordersenGhbpper market; and 79.p&rcent of his trade-
side orders and 0.00 percent of bancel-side orders in the Efarket during June 2013. (R. 20-
4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 95-96; Tr. at 1574-75; CAEEX®. 178.) This data, combined with the
disappearing cancel-side icebergens detailed above, “showsatijDefendant] Oystacher is
using his option to use icebergs or his optiondbuse icebergs, as the case may be, in a way
that would increase the magnituofethe imbalance in the visibtader book, particularly in the
last second.” (Tr. at 1532, 1575.)
C. Non-FlipVersusFlip “Iceberg” Order Usage

Finally, Defendant Oystacher’s iceberg order usage followed a similar fluctuation
between non-flip transactions and trade-sidersrdéer flip eventsParticularly, Defendant
Oystacher used a statistically lower rate of @eglorders in non-fliprders than trade-side
orders in the markets that allowed such ordémsleed, iceberg ordemsade up 94.03 percent of
Defendant Oystacher’s trade-siollers and 13.63 percent of his rfbp-orders in the Crude Oil
market; 87.23 percent of Defendant Oystacheaddrside orders and 6.03 percent of his non-
flip orders in the Natural Gas market; 68.81 percéefendant Oystachs trade-side orders
and 13.07 percent of his non-flip orders ia tbopper market; and 66.31 percent of Defendant
Oystacher’s trade-side orders compared to 6.i&pé of his non-flip orders in the ES market
during June 2013. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 3%)such, Defendant @tacher’s trade-side
orders displayed a lower rate of their contracts compared to his non-flip orders’ displayed

guantities.
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iii. Price Aggressiveness and Order Execution

A relationship also existdoetween Defendant Oystachepisce aggressiveness and
order execution rates across the various typesdsr entries. A price can either be
“aggressive,” otherwise known as “marketabla,“passive” depending on where the price is
located compared to the curréhid-ask spread.” (Tr. &471.) According to Professor
Bessembinder, “[a] marketable order is one Has a price that's agegsive enough that it can
be matched against a resting arde soon as it arrives at the exchange. So for a marketable buy
order, it would be one with antiit price high enough that it matché® price of . . . a resting sell
order, and then a marketable order can be exgattieast in part aon as it arrives at the
exchange.” Ifl. at 1470-71.) “[A] passive order,” hewer, “is one that's not marketable,
cannot be immediately matched uponval at the exchange andetiefore, would be placed or
rest in the book . . . [b]ecause there’s not arospe-side order with a rthing or better price.”
(Id. at 1471.) In sum, “the highéhe limit price on a buy order,glmore aggressive is the buy
order; the lower the limit price on a sell ordéne more aggressive the order.” Id.) “If a
marketable order arrives thedn be executed against ordegsting on the book, the [exchanges]
have rules for which of the resting orders are exedutgd The rule is . . first in, first out or . .
. the queue priority rule. It sagfsat the orders thatere resting longest aexecuted first.” (Tr.
at 1567.) In addition, “the [b]id-[a]sk [s]preadtie difference between the lowest priced order
to sell[, the “best offer,”] and the highest priaader to buy, [the “best bifl” (R. 1 at 7; Tr. at
1473-74.) Often, the lowest pricedder to sell and the higbt priced order to buy are,
collectively, referred to as the “top of the markéte “best bid and offer,” or the “BBO.”Id_;

Tr. at 1473-74.)
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To quantify price aggressiveness, Profe&ssembinder measured the average number
of “ticks” Defendant Oystacher’s limit order peis were from the market’s best bid or offer
price, depending on what side of the marketvias trading on. (R. 28; CFTC Exh. 94, at 28.)

In other words, he measured the average nuwidticks-to-best” for each of Defendant
Oystacher’s order entriesld() A “tick” is a unit of measurement used to illustrate the
incremental shifts in contract price in each matket “The movement in price of one ‘tick’ [in
the Copper market] results in a change in tHeevaf the contract by £150.”). (R. 1 at 10.)
Specifically, the “bid ticks-to-best” is the maitis best bid price dhe time of Defendant
Oystacher’s order entry minussHimit order price, while the “offer ticks-to-best” is the
Defendant Oystacher’s limit order price minus the ragskbest offer price at the time of entry.
(R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 28.) As a result,doth bid and offer orders, the more negative the
“ticks-to-best” value, the moraggressive Defendant Oystacheigces were. Likewise, the
more positive the value, the less aggressor more passive, his prices were.

Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder identified a number of price aggressiveness and
execution rate patterns in Defendant Oystacheatiing behavior. Spéically, he explained
that Defendant Oystacher 1) priced trade-sideis more aggressively than cancel-side orders
and, as a result, executed more of his tradeesiiers than cancel-siadeders, 2) priced flip
orders more aggressively than non-flip orders asd result, executed necof his flip orders
than non-flip orders, and 3) exeed more orders as a resultflips than any other market
participants.

A. Cancel-Side Versus Trade-Side Order Price
Aggressiveness and Execution

Within flip transactions, across botretfull and narrowed data sets, Defendant

Oystacher’s average “trade-sideler ticks-to-best” was more negative than his average “cancel-
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side order ticks-to-best.” Within the narrowetl sedata, Defendant Oyasther priced trade-side
orders, on average, more aggressively than Imeetaide orders. In the Crude Oil market, for
example, Defendant Oystacher’s average “tiside order ticks-to-best” was -1.71 while his
average “cancel-side ordecks-to-best” was 0.23.Id. at 87.) Thus, Defendant Oystacher
placed his trade-side orders an average oftick& higher (bids) or lower (offers) than the
market’s prevailing BBO at the time of entry, kiveg them “aggressive” ders that crossed the
“bid-ask spread.” The same price aggnemsess trend existedrdughout other markets:
Defendant Oystacher’s average “trade-side ttokkest” was -1.40 and$iaverage “cancel-side
ticks-to-best” was 0.07 in the Natural Gas nedirk1.80 and 0.21 in the Copper market; -0.98
and 0.00 in the VIX market; and -1.00 and 0.00 in the ES market during June RDE8.87—
88.)

The same trend existed in Defendant Oystéstfull data set. Indeed, Defendant
Oystacher’s average “trade-side ticks-to-b@s’s -1.66 and his avemfcancel-side ticks-to-
best” was 0.21 in the Crude Oil market; -1.2@ 8rR0 in the Natural Gas market; -1.41 and 0.27
in the Copper market, -0.99 and -0.02 in thX Yfarket, and -1.02 and 0.02 in the ES market
during June 2013.1d. at 39.)

In light of these price aggssiveness patterns, Defendant Oystacher’s orders also
exhibited execution patterns across trade and cancel-side orderat 1386; CFTC Exhs. 180,
181.) Professor Bessembinder “computed . . nthmber of contracts exeed relative to the
number of contracts entered . . . for each ewarboth the cancel side and the trade side and
averaged those across eventsd.)( Within the narrowed set dfata, Defendant Oystacher’s
“execution rates were much higher on the trade side than on the cancel lsidat”1%$87; CFTC

Exh. 181.) In the narrowed set’s Crude Oil market, for example, Defendant Oystacher’s average
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trade-side execution rate was 69.83 percentewhd average cancalle execution rate was

1.87 percent. The same holds true in at leastdther markets: his average trade-side execution
rate was 50.76 percent whilestaverage cancel-side executrate was 0.51 percent in the

Natural Gas market; 44.30 percent and 0.89¢gretric the Copper market; 37.53 percent and
0.94 percent in the VIX market; and 55.20 percewt @17 percent in the E8arket during June
2013. (d. at 1586-87; R. 20-4, CFTC BEX94, at 30.) “[T]he low execution rates on the cancel
side are consistent with the notion that thers imgent to not execute at least some of those
orders.” (d. at 1589.)

B. Non-Flip Versus Flip Order Price
Aggressiveness and Execution

Defendant Oystacher also priced his trade-si#ges more aggressively than his non-flip
trades in five markets. Specifically, Defend@yistacher’s average trade-side “ticks-to-best”
was -1.66 and his average non-flip “ticks-to-begis -0.45 in the Crude Oil market; -1.27 and
0.72 in the Natural Gas market; -1.41 and 0.58B@Copper market; -0.99 and 1.65 in the VIX
market; and -1.02 and 0.55 in the ES markeindufune 2013. (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 39.)
Accordingly, Defendant Oystachpriced his trade-side orders at a higher (bid) or lower (offer)
price on average than the market’s prevailingXB& the time of entry, making his trade-side
trades more aggressive than his non-flip trades.

Defendant Oystacher’s non-flip and flipders also presentexkecution patterns across
both the full and narrowed data sets. HBr@fessor Bessembinder identified two relevant
trends: 1) Defendant Oystachegsecution rates for his trade-sideders were higher than for
his non-flip orders and 2) Defdant Oystacher’s execution rafes his cancel-side order were
lower than for his non-flip orders. In the Crud# market, for example, Defendant Oystacher’s

average non-flip order execution rate was 36.52yr his average traeside order execution
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rate was 69.06 percent (69.83 petagithin the narrowed dataeand his average cancel-side
order execution rate was 4.03 percent (1.48querwithin the narrowed data set)d. (at 95.)
Defendant Oystacher’s averagen-flip order execution ratgas 25.20 percent, his average
trade-side order execution rate was 50.40 pe(&&186 percent within thnarrowed data set),
and his average cancel-sideler execution rate was 2.17 pent (0.38 percent within the
narrowed data set) in the Natural Gas marR8.88 percent, 43.47 perd¢ga3.33 percent within
the narrowed data set), and 3.24 percent (0.75 percent within the rihdataeset) in the
Copper market; 18.06 percent, 54pcent (37.53 percent withihe narrowed data set), and
1.20 percent (0.40 percent within the narrowed datgpin the VIX markt; and 32.17 percent,
65.22 percent (55.20 percent within the narrowed dat), and 2.75 perdg®.19 percent within
the narrowed data set) in the ES market during June 20d.3at 05-96.) Thus, Defendant
Oystacher executed his trade-side orders andetaide orders at higher and lower average
rates, respectively, compartahis non-flip orders.

C. Executed Orders as a Rault of Flips Across All
Relevant Markets

Finally, not only do Defendant Oystachesisler execution rates illustrate a pattern
within his own trading, but also when compatedhe rest of the maek participants that
engaged in flips. Specifically, he had a largecestage of his executedttes result from flip
events than any other market participants enrspective markets asige. In the Crude Oil
market, for example, 45.5 percent of Defendaystacher’'s executed trades overall resulted
from flip events. In other words, 45.5 percent of his Crude Oil executed orders were trade-side
orders. [d. at 15.) The second largest trade-gidder portion in the Crude Oil market,
however, was 16.0 percentd.)] Indeed, he possessed the lartyasle-side order portions in

other relevant markets: 33.3 percent compareddsecond largest 9p@rcent in the Copper
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market; 47.7 percent compared to the secon@$ar28.8 percent in the Natural Gas market; 72.8
percent compared to the 4.6 ganmt in the VIX market; and332 percent compared to the 27.9
percent in the ES magkduring June 2013.d.) Accordingly, “flipping was a very important
part of [Defendant] Oystacher’s strategies foragbhg trade executions to a much greater extent
than the other traders who engaged in flips.” (Tr. at 1496.)
iv. Cancellation Speed

Furthermore, Defendant Oystacher’s entrycémcel times, or cancellation speeds elicited
observable patterns. Here, Professor Bessatmboompared 1) Defendant Oystacher’s cancel-
side and trade-side order behawaothin flip transactions and) Defendant Oystacher’s overall
non-flip to flip order behavior.

A. Cancel-Side Versus Trade-Side Order Entry-to-
Cancel Times

As noted aboveDefendant Oystacher’s narrowedlers included nearly 5,300 flip
events with average cancel-side order eturgancel times of less than one second.
Specifically, his average cancel-sidrder entry-to-cancel times me).54 seconds in the Crude
Oil market, 0.58 seconds in the Natural Gasket, 0.62 seconds in the Copper market, 0.66
seconds in the VIX market, and 0.61 secandbse ES market during June 2013. (R. 20-4,
CFTC Exh. 94, at 95-96.) Indeed, some ofchiscel-side order entry-to-cancel times were
shorter than a quarter of a ead. On at least one occasion, for example, he cancelled a Copper
market order only 0.217 seconds, or 217 millisecoafisr entering it. (Tr. at 1572; CFTC Exh.
187.) Defendant Oystacher’s average trade-@ider entry-to-cancéimes, however, were
longer: 5.86 seconds in the Crude Oil marRe88 seconds in the Natural Gas market, 4.02
seconds in the Copper market, 37.45 secontsiVIX market, and 12.75 seconds in the ES

market during June 2013Id()
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B. Non-Flip Order Versus Cancel-Side Order
Entry-to-Cancel Times

On average, Defendant Oystacher’s non-fligeorentry-to-cancel times were longer than
his cancel-side order entry-to-cahtimes across the full data set in five markets. In the Crude
Oil market, for example, his average entryeamcel time for his nofiip orders was 3.74
seconds, while his average entry-to-cancel fon¢heir cancel-side orders was 1.40 seconds.
(Id. at 40.) His average &y-to-cancel time for non-flip orads and cancel-side orders were 9.34
seconds and 3.01 seconds, reipely, in the Natural Gas magk 4.76 and 2.41 seconds in the
Copper market; 181.38 and 54.41 seconds in tkervdrket; and 44.78 and 4.10 seconds in the
ES market during June 2013d.{

Ultimately, Professor Bessembinder concluded that the findings and overall patterns
outlined above supported the spoofing hypothe8/hen one wants to understand patterns and
when one wants to understand what's going dhéndata at a systematic level, when you get
150 million records, its tough to look at everggle record and from the individual records
make statements about patterns or what's gomg (Tr. at 1489.) As Professor Bessembinder
concluded,

[i]t [is] not informative tolook at individual events. Indidual events can be . . .

cherry picked. Stories . . . can be talibut individual eventsln a case of this

type where we’re focusing on the data aritiig the data speak, | believe it's the

broad and significant pattern that's reletfanot the fact that some individual

events selected by some unknown procedught deviate in some ways from the

broad pattern. . . . | think the overall pattés relevant in assessing the likelihood

that an individual event involves spoofing.

(Id. at 1607-08.)
2. Defendant Expert ProfessoDaniel R. Fischel Rebuttal

Professor Fischel is the President and @han of Compass Lexecon and the Lee and

Brena Professor of Law and Business EmeritusatJniversity of Chicago Law School and a
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highly accomplished economistid(at 2097-98.) Compass Lexecon “is an economics
consulting firm that specializes in the applioatof economics primarily to a wide variety of
legal and regulatory subjects.Id() Professor Fischel has senasithe Dean and Director of
the Law and Economics Program at the Uniwgisf Chicago Law School and has held a
courtesy appointment at the UniversityGificago Graduate §ool of Business. I4. at 2098.)

He has also held academic positions at NortkevegJniversity and an honorary appointment at
the Kellogg School of Managementd.(at 2099.)

Professor Fischel holds adhelor’s degree from Cornell University where he studied
economics and history. He attked history graduate school o couple of years at Brown
University before eventually earning his Jfiam the University of Chicago Law Schoold.(at
2100.) Ultimately, Professor Fischel entereglfibld of academicdieginning his career at
Northwestern University. Id.)

Throughout the course ofdhcareer, Professor Fischmgs published two books and
approximately fifty articles in legal and economic journald. &t 2101.) Specifically, he has
written and taught about the economics ohipalation, futures markets, and customer
protection. [d.) Professor Fischel has also servedrasxpert or consultant for numerous
government agencies including the Departnoédustice, the Sedties and Exchange
Commission, the banking regulayaagencies, the DepartmesftLabor, the Federal Trade
Commission, and numerous exchanged. gt 2101-02.) Specificgll Professor Fischel has
testified as an expert approximately 75 trials.ld. at 2103.) Indeed, he has testified in

manipulation cases, insider tradinges, and securities fraud casdsl.) (
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a. Professor Bessembinder’s Alleged Fundamental Flaws

Ultimately, Professor Fischel concluded that Professor Bessembinder’s findings are
“fundamentally flawed.” Id. at 2106.) Specifically, ProfegsBischel claimed that Professor
Bessembinder’s “analysis is characterized byri@s®f very familiar biases, well-recognized
errors in interpreting economictda[a] confirmation bias, a selen bias[,] and an aggregation
bias. And for those reasons, | belidwg conclusions aneot credible.” [d. at 2108.)

First, Professor Fischel astwl that Professor Bessemdéler's analysis suffered from
“confirmation bias.” He explained that

[a] confirmation bias is basically veh you have a position and no matter what

evidence subsequently comes to light teanconsistent with that position or

raises questions with that position, yomngly just reiterate your initial position

without taking into account all of the muitial reasons why there might be cause

to question your iial conclusion.

And | think . . . Professor Bessembindei that repeatedly. Every time he came

up with a test and then when he appliegltdst to differentlata, the test didn’t

work; so, he just. . . tried to interptée failure of his own test as somehow

inconsistent with his initial position.

Every time he said that things that at®siously relevant, such as the relationship

between flips and volatilityare irrelevant or uninformative when | think anyone

with the most rudimentary understanding of financial markets would recognize

that that data is incredibly relevant antbrmative, and just to dismiss it out of

hand rather than to say, well, this raiaeguestion that | need to think about, |

need to investigate, those atkexamples of confirmation bias.
(Id. at 2109-10.)

This challenge, however, is refuted by Professor Bessembinder's methodology.
Specifically, he

[a]pproached this project the same wapproach my academic projects, with an

academic skepticism, and with a desiréetdhe data sp&aand let the data
distinguish betwen hypotheses.
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| was asked to evaluate whether or that evidence . . . would support the notion
that [Defendant] Oystacher had engagesipioofing. That's what | referred to as
the spoofing hypothesis.

| asked myself, just as | do with my acadepeépers, | said what are the statistical
tests that | can construct, ... what e questions that | can pose to the data, if
you prefer, that would shed light on théswe, that would allow us to draw some
inferences about the likelihood thaetk was spoofing behavior or not.

My conclusions were not determined before | started. My conclusions were
written after | saw what the data had to say.

(Id. at 1484.)
Second, Professor Fischel accused Professor Bessembinder of committing “selection
bias.” He explained that

[s]election bias is when you base a dasmn on a certain set of data and you
ignore other equally relevadata which, if you looked at [sic], might lead you to
a different conclusion. And, again, Preder Bessembinder did that repeatedly.

(Id. at 2110-11.)
Again, however, Professor Bessembinder explained that

The first place where one might mistaketilink there was selection bias is on
the fact that | studied 6&pecific dates, most of wdh were identified based on
market complaints. If someone made thistake of saying having studied these
62 dates we now know what [Defendadystacher did on other dates, if
someone made that mistake, that woulduligect to selection bias. As long as
we stay within the 62 dates andeeybody understands we’re describing his
pattern, his patterns of trading on thé&edates, there is no selection bias.

Another place where someone might mistdkéelieve there’s selection bias is
with respect to the narrowédata] set[.] . . . As longs what we describe about
the narrowed set is understood to bsadigtion [sic] of the narrowed set and
nobody makes the mistake of saying here’'stwine see in the narrowed set, this
must be true of what [Defendant] Oystacklid at other times, [however,] . . .
again, we have no selection bias.
(Id. at 1486-87.)
Finally, Professor Fischel claimed that Professor Bessembinder committed “aggregation

bias.” He observed that
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[a]ggregation bias is when you draw clustons from a finding about what exists

as an average and equate your conclusimut an average to a set of individual

cases that make up the average. And, again, that flaw permeates Professor

Bessembinder’s analysis.

You know, for example, Professor Bessembinder focused a lot on what he

referred to as a pattern of acceleratepattern of disappearing icebergs, a

pattern of imbalances. Adif those claims of pattern [sic] are based on average

findings. But the only way to analyze ather a pattern exists is to look at

individual transactions to see whetlhiee supposed pattern existed in the

individual cases, the indigual transactions. . . . Pesfsor Bessembinder’s claims

about a pattern in each thfese three areas collapses because he confused what’s

true on average with whatteue in individual cases.
(Id. at 2112.)

As with the previous alleged biases, Pssfa Bessembinder’s approach to his analysis
undermines the criticism. He explained that

The sin of aggregation bias only arrivesiife is representingpat having looked

at the average, they now know the factseeery individual. As long as we don’t

make the mistake of that assumptiowl @on’t make that assertion, there’s no

aggregation bias.
(Id. at 1488.)

In sum, given Professor Bessembindarislytical approach, the Court is not
persuaded that these challenges undermine his opinions.

b. Alternative Non-Spoofing Rationales

Professor Fischel also analyzed the maaket Defendant Oystaehis trade data and
concluded that, “to the extent if@ssible to infer intent from conduic . . | believe the data is
more supportive of . . . the non-spoofing hyysis than the spoofing hypothesisld. @t 2106.)
Professor Fischel individuallgnalyzed Defendant Oystachevarious trade behaviors,
described in Professor Bessembinder’'s ysesd above, and offered several non-spoofing

rationales for Defendant’s conduct. In doingtsplaced heavy focus on the individual factors

upon which Professor Bessembinder relied, but ofjeared the impact of all of these factors in
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the aggregate. It was clear from Profe®essembinder’s testimony and analysis that the
spoofing factors are relevant when they wouetiher, not in isolation. Ultimately, Professor
Fischel’s opinions do not impact the Coantuling on the CFTC’s preliminary injunction
motion. Defendants are free to present Professor Fischel’s opinions to the jury for the ultimate
determination on Defendants’ liability.

F. Gregory O’Connor

Defendants called one 3Red employee-Eitsef Compliance Officer, Mr. Gregory
O’Connor. Mr. O’'Connor has served as 3Rddrsef Compliance Officer since July 2013. (Tr.
at 2030.) As Chief Compliance Officer, Mr.@dnnor oversees compliance for 3Red, handles
internal and external inquiries, conducts tngdanalysis, speaks with exchange and market
regulators, and serves a8Red liaison for any compliance-related purposks.a{ 2029-30.)
Mr. O’Connor also serves as 3Red’s backup Riskager, given the firm’s small sizeld.(at
2043.) In that role, he monitoiading risk to ensure that thr@aders’ strategies do not put the
firm in financial jeopardy. Ifl.) Mr. O’Connor has shared amclusively business relationship
with Defendant Oystachensgie beginning at 3RedId( at 2357.)

Before 3Red, Mr. O’Connor gained sigondint compliance experience. From 2003 to
2005, he was a Senior Compliance InvestigatdWachovia, a national broker dealeld. at
2036.) Later, from 2005 to 2008, Mr. O’Connor wedkas a compliance alyst, reporting to
the chief compliance officer, for the New YoBtock Exchange (“NYSE”) Arca, a national
securities exchangeld( at 2035.) Eventually, he was apmeid as the NYSE Arca’s Director
of Compliance. Ifl.) Further, he served as the Gli®mmpliance Officer for NYSE Arca’s two
subsidiaries. Il.) Specifically, at NYSE Arca, MO’Connor handled the day-to-day

compliance needs for the exchange, providadamnee to traders on the exchange’s rules,
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learned the exchange’s manipulation rules, aratensome of the exchange’s rules himsdid. (
at 2035-36.) As the Chief Compliance Officer fof SE Arca’s subsidiaries, he handled all of
the regulatory mattersid() From 2008 to 2012, Mr. O’Connor was the Compliance Manager
and Chief Compliance Officer for Wolverinefrading firm that ha@ proprietary trading
company, two brokerage firms with clients, and a hedge fuddat(2033—-34.) He also served
as the Chief Executive Officer fone of Wolverine’s brokers.Id. at 2034.) Finally, from 2012
to 2013, Mr. O’Connor served astichief Compliance Officer at Bkon, a proprietary trading
firm that primarily traded a range of futures contractd. gt 2031.) Similar to Defendants,
Allston traded on a range of futures marketsuduig, in part, fixed income futures contracts on
the treasuries market; equity index futures enES market; the natural gas market; and the
crude oil market. I(l. at 2033.) As Allston’s Chief Corfignce Officer, he handled regulatory
inquiries, monitored trading, created surveidanserved as a liaistretween the firm and
exchanges, and represented tha fon various industry panelsld(at 2032.)

In July 2013, when Mr. O’Connor begamorking at 3Red, he immediately began
surveilling Defendant Oystacher’s tradingydmping and implementing trading surveillance
reports, reaching out to the exchanges on whidd3Raders traded, and meeting with 3Red’s
traders on a regular basidd.(at 2041.) Indeed, Mr. O@nor began watching Defendant
Oystacher’s trading every day pjugging Defendant Oystacher'sitting activity directly into
his computer, allowing him to watch Defendants@gher trade live for as long as he wanted.
(Id. at 2041-42.) Defendant Oystacher woussbalin new trading strategy ideas by Mr.
O’Connor before implementing themld(at 2050-53; Def. Exh. D111.) In January 2014, for
example, after Defendant proposed one such strategy idea, Mr. O’Connor responded:

Thanks. | have no immediate objecti@ssthe keys here appear to be the
relatively small size of the orders and the fact that all orders will be hidden,
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limiting impact and lowering their priorityy the book. . . . Also, with any aspect

of the strategy being automated, we wékxd to verify that the system will not

generate an unnecessary nambf orders given the valility at or around the

close of the markets. I'm out of th&ioe next week, but keep me posted on any

progress before we implement.
(Def. Exh. D111.) Further, MO’Connor “designed . . . regitions that are imposed on
[Defendant] Oystacher, restrictiotigat he still has today.” (Tat 2050.) These restrictions
include both surveillance reports and compi@iools. Surveillance reports are computer
algorithms that collect, summarize, and rep@ding data based on selected parametéusat(
2054-55.) Compliance tools are appiicas that restrict a markparticipant’s ability to enter
trades in various waysld( at 2056.) Specifically, Mr. O’Connor designed and implemented the
following surveillance reports and compliancelsofrom September 2013 to February 2016: the
“Execution vs. Inside Market 9@ercent Report,” the “Execution.vaside Market 90 Percent
Report,” the “Order Bias Report,” the “Max Order Size Functionality” tool, the “Large Order
Splitter Tool,” the “Reduce Prido Cancel/Replace Tool,” the “Max Quantity at Price Tool,” the
“Dynamic Max Quantity at Price Tool,” and theelayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool.”
(Id. at 2058-78.) This evolution of surveillancpads and compliance tools was based, in part,
on information Mr. O’Connor received from lkiemmunications with various market exchanges
and regulators. 1d. at 2353.) According to Mr. O'@nor, Defendant Oystacher has never
resisted any of Mr. O’Connor’s sweMance or compliace tools. Id. at 2054.)

1. The “Execution vs. Inside Maket 50 and 90 Percent Reports”

On September 6, 2013, Mr. O’Connor implemertefirst two surveillance reports, the

“Execution vs. Inside Market 50 Percentpagt and the “Execution vs. Inside Market 90

Percent” report. I(l. at 2067—68.) The two reports provigal-time trading alerts to Mr.

O’Connor focused on 3Red traders’, inchgliDefendant Oystachey’srder sizes. Id. at 2068.)
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The “Execution vs. Inside Market 90 Percent” neflags any buy or setrder quantities that
are larger than ninety percent of the oppasite best sell or buy order quantitieid. )(
Similarly, the “Execution vs. Inside Market 50 Bent” report flags any der quantities that are
larger than fifty percent of the aggregate ditaof the top three pce levels on the opposite
side. (d. at 2069.) Upon receiving alerts from thése reports, Mr. O’Connor looks at general
market data, 3Red’s trades for the day, thggéal order data, and the contextual market data
surrounding the flagged order to make notesatutess the flagged orders if any compliance
issues arise.ld. at 2070-71.)
2. Order Bias Report

On January 27, 2015, Mr. O’Connor implertezhthe “Order Bias Report,” or the
“flipping report.” (d. at 2072.) Mr. O’Connor designed tiheport to flag ay trading activity
that could be construed as flipping afiee CME published guidance regarding disruptive
trading practices that includéhis “flipping” behavior. [d.) Specifically, the report flags any
resting orders that are cancellend followed by a new order erdgd at the same price level on
the opposite side within ten millisecondsd. @t 2073.) At the end @&ach day, this report
collects and summarizes each incident and traaghe data to Mr. O’Connor’s computeitd.(
at 2072-73.) Similar to the “Execution vs. bhesiMarket 50 and 90 Reent” reports, Mr.
O’Connor reviews this data and surrounding madega to ensure compliance with external and
internal regulations. Iq. at 2073.)

3. Max Order Size Functionality

In January 2015, Mr. O’Connor also implerteghhis first compliance tool for Defendant

Oystacher’s trading in particular, naméthe “Max Order Size Functionality.”ld.) The “Max

Order Size Functionality” tool stricts Defendant Oystacher'ssgdlayed order size by setting a
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cap on the maximum number of conteaatsingle order could includeld(at 2073-74.) Indeed,
Mr. O’Connor establishes a static whole numtegr based on marketatacteristics and, if
Defendant Oystacher’s contract quantity exceedise tool automatically converts the excess
contracts into iceberg orders with hiddguantities and lowegueue priority. Id.) If Mr.
O’Connor set the limit at 250 contracts, for examphnd [Defendant Oystacher] attempted to
enter an order for . . . 1,000 contracts, all tdaat be shown on that order was 250 contracts, and
everything else was turned into an ieely so the other 750 were hiddenld. @t 2074.)
4, Large Order Splitter Tool and Reduce Prior to Cancel/Replace Tool

On May 27 and May 28, 2015, Mr. O’Connomplemented a two-pronged compliance
measure, the “Large Order Splitter Tool” and‘tReduce Prior to Cancel/Replace Tool,” that
restricts Defendant Oystacher’'sler size and speed, respectivelld.)( The first tool, the
“Large Order Splitter Tool,” automatically brealkp Defendant Oystacher’s larger orders into
three equal smaller orderdd.(at 2075—-76.) The second tool, the “Reduce Prior to
Cancel/Replace Tool,” causes Defendant Oystacher’s wash Blitzkerly cancel a portion of
those three orders when he pkoeders on the opposite sidéd. Then, only after the market
registers those cancellations, thestvdlocker cancels the restd.j Specifically, according to
Mr. O’Connor,

if [Defendant Oystacher] tried to ent&gn order for 1,000antracts and showed

250, this tool actually split that order ugarthree orders. And the reason for that

is in the event he later weed to cancel those ordetise system would look at his

orders resting in relation the market, try to cancel a large portion of them first,

wait for the exchange to acknowledgeconfirm that those orders had been

cancelled. The intention theertrying to give everybody else the head start, that
interest is leaving this price, and thibe rest of the [wash blocker] action would

8 According to Mr. Wasko, the former CGTA markettpapant, a wash blocker is “a feature provided by the
exchange that will allow you the choice if you're going to potentially trade at a level that you have orders on the
others side of. It allows you the choice to either cancel your aggressive orders or your passiv€lorder29.)
Defendant Oystacher understood that the “wash blockgrevents people from trading with . . . themselvetd: (

at 836.)
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finish, meaning the new order, Igtay the sell order was going in and
cancel[ing] the rest dhe resting buy order.

(Id. at 2075.) This two-pronged tool also weik conjunction with the “Max Order Size
Functionality” tool. {d. at 2077.) As such, Mr. O’ConnotJanuary and May 2015 tools restrict
Defendant Oystacher’'s maximum displayed osiee, maximum order size, and flip speed.
(1d.)
5. Max Quantity at Price Tool

On November 10, 2015, Mr. O’Connor implemented the “Max Quantity at Price Tool.”
(Id.) He created this tool as another attempestrict Defendant Oystacher’s order size. Instead
of focusing on Defendant Oystacher’s size oimaividual order basis, however, the “Max
Quantity at Price Tool” limits the quantity Defemda&an show at an individual price leveld.}
Similar to the “Max Order Size Functionality” tool limiting Defendant Oystacher’s displayed
order size in an individual ordethis tool estalshes a quantity cap at a price level and
automatically converts any excesmtracts into icebergsld( at 2077-78.) This tool, similar to
the previous size-restrictidnols, operates with wholeumber maximum limitations.Id. at
2078.)

6. Dynamic Max Quantity at Price Tool

On February 16, 2016, Mr. O’Connor implemented the most up-to-date size-restriction
tool, the “Dynamic Max Quantity at Price Tool.Td( at 2058.) This tool is an upgrade to the
size-restriction tools described above. Altloé tools, however, are still in placdd.(at 2078.)
Like its predecessors, this tool is primarilynad at limiting the size of Defendant Oystacher’s
orders. This tool, however, establishes an ever-changing quantity cap based on percentages and

market circumstances. Specifically,
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[T]his tool . . . does a calculation every 10 seconds. And it does that by looking at
six prices in the market. The ... sedpthird, and fourth best bid, and . . . the
second, third, and fourth best offer. So what the system is doing is looking at
those price levels and the quantity digpl by the market as a whole, excluding
[Defendant], and coming up with the avezadso if the average is 100 contracts,
then 10 percent of that would be 10 coctisaand that would be the limit or the
maximum shown quantity [Defendant Oystaditan place . . . at any price in the
market in that market. . . . [I]f he submitted an order for 50 contracts, that order
would only show 10, and the other 40 wobklturned into an iceberg. It would

be in reserve.

(Id. at 2059-60.) This tool usds second, third, anddrth price levels and excludes the BBO,
as it is “an unstable price” that consistdteé “most volatile prices the market.” Id. at 2067.)
Mr. O’Connor implemented thisza restriction to asage the concerns oégulators and other

market participants:

[S]ince I've been on board [with 3Regpu know, and even specifically with a

case like this, there’s been a focushisorder size. | think the CFTC has

actually used the phrase “bait-and-switchterms of the size that he’s used, so
we've . . . worked to reduce his order size, allowing him to stay competitive at the
best prices in the market where he plauesrders, but we made this change in
February after a few iterations. And tilgsin my mind, an extreme measure in
terms of the restrtmn of his trading.

[H]e’s still making decisions on the prictsat he wants to trade at; but in the
scenarios that seem to be selected whetgcancelled his orders before they get
filed, this [tool] is designed to minimize the perception or the impact that I'd say
our competitors have said larger orders impose on the market.
(Id. at 2061.) This tool currently restricts Defiant Oystacher’s order sizes in every futures
market he trades in and functions as aulefanitation that Defadant cannot avoid.ld.)
7. Delayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool

On February 16, 2016, Mr. O’Connor alstplemented the “Delayed Replace for

Cancel/Replace Tool,” upgrading previ@apeed-restriction tools detailed abovhl. &t 2062.)
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Indeed, like its predecessors, this tool linbesfendant Oystacher’s trading speed by focusing on
Defendant Oystacher’s wash blocker udd. 4t 2064.) According to Mr. O’Connor,

obviously with this case, the CFTC hagdshe term “near simultaneously,” and
some of the examples we discussed withexchange also seemed to have a
speed relationship in terms of those evelds.what we did is we actually tried to
slow it down, and we put in a mandatoryayein the event [Defendant] were to
change his bias in the market ahd wash blocker would be enacted.

There was a perception that because wighcttmbination of the large orders that
[Defendant] uses, the ones that don't tredien he cancels them, and the speed at
which technology can handle order management—which | think that's why the
phrase “nearly simultaneously” has bemsed—the cancellation of those orders
are what—the implication is that he’ssi@ading people, . . . [and] that’s not his
intention, that’s not what I'& ever understood his intewri to be, so we putin a
delay to remove that percemti of the activity, ggecially for the orders that are at
the best bid and offer.

(Id. at 2063-65.) After Mr. O’Connor originallet the delay for two hundred and fifty
milliseconds, Defendant Oystacher requestedViC.onnor increase it to one full secondd. @t
2065.) According to Mr. O’Connor,

[O]ne second is an eternity. . . . I'm suner competitors have used intervals of
time significantly smaller than this and leal it an eternity, so | think calling it an
eternity is accurate.

[l]t's fairly common in this industryo understand that we operate in a
microsecond precision, which is a millioraha second. The speed at which the
wash blocker that he was using beforéhet it was—the two orders or the two
actions|, the cancellation and opposite-sidger entry,] were occurring within

single milliseconds. And, again, just @eneral understanding of the industry,
milliseconds is predominantly enough time for the industry to react, but we took it
to the extreme and just went out to a &dtond to ensure that we could try to

cover as much of our competitors as possible.

(Id. at 2066.) As noted above, thi®l, along with the rest, is curly in place and implements

a default limitation on Defendant Oystacherading that he cannotm®ve or manipulate.
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Defendants have received no Eucexnplaints since January 20153d. (at 2354.)

Further, since implementing the “Dynamic ¥Quantity at Price Tool” and the “Delayed

Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool” in Felmsua016, Defendants have received no CME

complaints. Id.)

Il. Based on Defendants’ Trading Limitations and the Court’s Additional Imposed
Limitations, the CFTC Has Not Demonstated a Reasonable Likelihood of Future
Violations Between Now and the Trial Date
As noted earlier, the CFTC must not only destoate a prima facie case that Defendants

committed a violation, but also show that there is “some reasonable likelihood of future

violations.” Hunt, 591 F.2d at 1220 (citingdvance Growth Capital, Corpd70 F.2d at 54.)

“The purpose of injunctive relief igfter all, not to puish but to deter future violations, thus

insuring general compliance with the broadhedial design of the legislationAdvance Growth

Capital, Corp, 470 F.3d at 54 (citinglecht Co, 321 U.S. at 329 (“The historic injunctive

process was designed taele not to punish.”)see alsarheodore D. Edward©f Truth,

Pragmatism, and Sour Grapes: The Second Circuit’'s Decision in SEC v. Citigroup Global

Markets 65 Duke L. J. 1241, 1249 (2016) (“[I]njunctionave always been intended to deter

future conduct, not to punigiast conduct.”) (footnote omitted¥[T]he moving party must

satisfy the court that relief is needed. Tleeessary determination is that there exists some
cognizable danger of recurrent violation, sometimmge than the mere possibility which serves
to keep the case aliveUnited States v. Di Mucc879 F.2d 1488, 1498 (7th Cir. 1989) (quoting

W. T. Grant Cq.345 U.S. at 633). Importantly, “pasisconduct does not lead necessarily to

the conclusion that there is &diihood of future misconduct[.JHunt, 591 F.2d at 122Gee

also LifewatchiInc., 2016 WL 1315063, at *23. While gtamisconduct can be “highly

suggestive of the likelihood of futei violations, . . . the courheuld look to the ‘totality of the
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circumstances™ before drawing any inferencelnt, 591 F.2d at 1220 (quotiriggmt.
Dynamics, Inc.515 F.2d at 807%xee also Lifewatch, Cd2016 WL 1315063, at *23. Put
differently,

[T]he tentacles of equity are not completdigengaged by statute: the agency still

must show possibility of future viation, for the injunction’s purpose is to

prevent, not to punish. Even in the fad¢he apparently mandatory provision in

the Emergency Price Control Act fan injunction upon showing of past

violation, [for example,] the Supreme Court helddecht v. Bowleghat judges

retained discretion to refuse an injtino which they found unnecessary to assure

the defendant’s future compliance. [Clourts have usually lightened the

agency’s burden by drawing from pastlations an inference that injunctive

relief is necessary to preveiture disobedience, witiscretionary denial

limited to cases where the deflant overcomes the inferencedbyarly reliable

promises that violations will not recur
The Statutory Injunction as an Endement Weapon of Federal Agencigs YALE L. J. 1023,
1027-28 (1948) (citinglecht, Co. 321 U.S. 321) (emphasis added). Thus, in determining
whether there is a reasonable likelihood of futtiodations, the Court reviews the totality of the
circumstances.

The Court is concerned that numeroushenges have warned and sanctioned
Defendants for their improper trading activitiest Pefendants have contindi¢o engage in such
activity. This includes the NYEX investigation, the COMEXnwvestigation, the various ICE
investigations, the numerous Eurex investigations, fines, and bans, and the number of CME
investigations and warnings. The evidence shows that Defendant Oystacher was aware of all of
these investigations and warningdonetheless, the Court mdsbk to the ttality of the
circumstances in determining whether aljpninary injunction is warranted here.

One such circumstance is Mr. O’Connor’s efforput controls in place to monitor and

prevent Defendants’ improper tradiactivities and his ongoing efferto monitor, in particular,

Defendant Oystacher’s trading &dies. Although “[]t is well settledthat a defendant’s
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voluntary cessation of a challengatctice does not deprive theléral court of its power to
determine the legality of the ptaxe[,] . . . such abandonment is an important factor bearing on
the question whether a court shoalercise its power to enjoin the defendant from renewing the
practice[.]” City of Mesquite VAladdin’s Castle, In¢.455 U.S. 283, 289, 102 S. Ct. 1070, 71 L.
Ed. 2d 152 (1982). Indeed, “[tjlmhancellor’'s decision is based alhthe circumstances; his [or
her] discretion is necessarily broad and a strong stgpaf abuse must be made to reverse it. To
be considered are tlh®na fides of the expressed intent to comply, the effectiveness of the
discontinuancend, in some cases, the chagaof the past violatiords W. T. Grant Cq.345

U.S. at 633 (emphasis addesBe also Di Muc¢i879 F.2d at 1498 (“Numerous factors . . . are to
be considered in determining whether injunctiveefés appropriate[.] . . . These factors include
the bona fide intention of the party found guiltydi$crimination to presently comply with the
law, [and] the effective discontinuance of theadiminatory practicem question][.]) (citingw.

T. Grant Co, 345 U.S. at 633). Put differentlgourts assess whether a defendant’s
discontinuance reflects a genuingeimt to comply with the relewd statutes and regulations and
whether it is effective See Di Mucgi879 F.2d at 1498.

A defendant’s corrective measures aimedreuring such compliance provide a valuable
litmus test. Notably, such efforts can overcanferences drawn from past violations in
determining whether there is a reasonabldihiked of future violéions. Specifically,

a strong showing of voluntary discontinuarmoaterially bolsters the defendant’s

promise of compliance. In actions temporary injunction, where the main

issue is whether violations threateendent lite mere discontinuance antedating

the complaint may suffice. . Even in the absence of such alacgréydefendant

may avoid judicial prohibitin by a showing that he hasffectively’ altered his

position and adopted measures ‘gdate’ to insure complianeecriteria

sufficiently vague to give the courtaa leeway in determining whether its
mandate is necessary to forestall possible resumption of illegal activity.
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The Statutory Injunction as an Endement Weapon of Federal Agenci&s YALE L. J. at 1028—
29 (emphasis added). Indeed, “[i]n each of¢hesses, although the scagehe past alleged
violations differed, the courts found that egfaions of future alations which would
substantiate the need for an injunction warged by corrective activities SEC v. Cenco, Inc.
436 F. Supp. 193, 198-99 (N.D. Ill. 1977iti(ey cases) (emphasis addesBe also Brown v.
Board of Ed. of City of Chicag886 F. Supp. 110, 125 (N.D. Ill. 197&)ting Wright & Miller,
Federal Practice and Procedur2d2 at Vol. 11, pp. 371-73) (“The rule is well settled that the
extraordinary writ of injunction vlinot issue for the purpose of pghing past offenses, but will
issue only in those cases where tourt is convinced that suohlief is necessary to prevent
future violations. . . . Thus, a federal court qtiey when dealing with state action, statutes or
ordinances generally should not issue aanagjion when the allegeattivity has stopped and
there is a bona fide intention not to resunig. A defendant’s corrective measures are
particularly indicative of an intent to comply whiey are adverse to his interests. In sum, the
Court must look to the totalityf the circumstances to detana whether Defendants’ adopted
corrective measures exhibit aridnt to comply with the state$ and regulations at issue and
whether the measures are effective in enswgimlp compliance. Moreover, the focus is on
whether such measures will be effective between now and the time of trial, as a preliminary
injunction remains in place only until a triah the merits of the underlying activitgee
Pampered Chef v. AlexaniaB04 F. Supp. 2d 765, 770 (N.D. B011) (“[T]he purpose of a
preliminary injunction is merely to preserve thi&atiee positions of thearties until a trial on the
merits can be held.”) (quotingniv. of Texas v. Camensicibl U.S. 390, 395, 101 S. Ct. 1830,
68 L. Ed. 2d 175 (1981) (citingrogress Dev. Corp. v. MitcheR86 F.2d 222 (7th Cir. 1961)));

see also G.G. ex. Rel. GrimunGloucester County School Bilo. 15-2056, 2016 WL 1567467,
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at *9 (4th Cir. April 19, 2016)L.ifewatch Inc., 2016 WL 1315063, at *Bierman v. Dayton
817 F.3d 1070, 1072—73 (8th Cir. 201&)nibach Mgmt. Trust v. Wartburg Enters., |50
F.3d 486, 491 (5th Cir. 2014Yjeridian Mut. Ins. Co. v. Meridian Ins. Grp., Ind28 F.3d 1111,
1119 (7th Cir. 1997) (citingniv. of Texas v. Camensichbl U.S. 390, at 395).

Here, while Defendant Oystacher’s prior coaidand continued traal activities after
multiple warnings, investigations, and sanctions trouble the Court, the totality of the
circumstances do not warrant a preliminajymation. The CFTC has not presented any
evidence or argument that Defendant Oystatheot complying with Defendants’ self-
implemented restrictions. Mr. O’Connoritivan independent, credible background in
compliance, implemented and is enforcing ¢heeasures. The CFTC did not identify any
motivations such as a prior friendship or largaumpayments or salary that might undercut Mr.
O’Connor’s credibility or the legjmacy of these measures. Fatmore, combined with these
measures, the Court notes three additional significenbrs: 1) the trial date in this case is only
approximately six months away, 2) the Couiiniposing additional limitations and requirements
on Defendants to ensure compliance betweenarathe time of trial, and 3) Defendant
Oystacher is currently only trading on two exalpesy and the Court ordeifsat he only trade on
these two exchanges through thaltin this case. UltimatehDefendants’ self-implemented
corrective measures, supplemented with the oadditional requirements and the limited time
until trial, render future violations unlikelyGiven this combination of factors, the Court
declines to impose a preliminary injunction.

Specifically, Defendants’ self-implementeaxbts significantly restrict both Defendant
Oystacher’s trading size atdding speed. Defendants have implemented, among others, the

“Dynamic Max Quantity at Price Tool” anddtiDelayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool"—
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compliance tools to self-monitor and regulatdddelant Oystacher’s trading size and speed,
respectively. Importantly, theswo trading charaetistics are fundameaitto Defendants’

ability to violate the relevantatutes and regulations, enhancihg effectiveness of Defendants’
discontinuance. All of the capliance tools Defendants havéfgmplemented are adverse to
their interests. These tools aim to prevenfieDdant Oystacher from successfully engaging in a
“bait and switch flipping deeme.” (R. 175-1 at 5.)

A. Trading Size Restrictions — The “Bait”

Defendanystacher’srading is subject to significarsize restrictionsimpeding his
ability to “bait” other market participantsAs Professor Bessembinder explained, Defendant
Oystacher’s trading size, andsudting displayed order imbalagccan be broken down into his
1) order quantity and 2) iceberg usage. Botthese factors are integital the CFTC’s spoofing
claims. Defendants’ self-implementeide-restrictiondols address both.

1. Defendant Oystacher’s Displayed Order Quantities

Notably, Defendant Oystacher’s display@der quantities are fundamental to the
charged spoofing scheme. Indeed, the CFTGihssrted that Defendargngaged in spoofing
“and “created . . . false market appeaeanf market depth and pressure byl#ige number
and/or sizgin number of contacts) of the spoof ordgthey placed.”(R. 1 at § 56, emphasis
added.) As aresult, “[tihesarge spoof orders deceptively encaged other market participants
(and their algos programmed to react to chamgbsok pressure) to enter orders on the same
side of the market as spoof ordersld. @t 1 59, emphasis addedrjdéed, the CFTC noted that
Defendants “were thiargest tradersn the respective contracts foopper, natural gas, VIX, and
E-Mini S&P 500 futures, and the third largestder in the spot-month contract for crude oil

futures (as measured by number of contractettaduring these periods, despite the presence of
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thousands of other tradein these markets.”ld. at { 4, emphasis added.) Specifically, the
CFTC contends, and ProfessorsBembinder demonstrated, that

[tihe data reveals that [Defendant] Gaatter’s cancel (spoof) side order entries
were large relative to the quantity@iders already existing on the book prior to
[Defendant] Oystacher’s entries. rlexample, on average, [Defendant]
Oystacher’s cancel (spoof) side orderghia charged flips were between 4.77 (in
the heavily traded ES markeb 18.77 times as large #ge quantity of contracts
already on the order book at the sameeplewel (or a better fme level). As a
result, market participants observesualden and dramatic increase in trading
interest on that side of the market.

(R. 20-1 at 19; R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 31; TA%10.) Order quantitieme integral to luring
in potential market participant victims andtjmately, deceiving them into placing orders.

Professor Bessembinder also highlightezlimportance of Defendant Oystacher’s
displayed order quantities—paularly in relation to “displayed order imbalance.” Indeed,
Professor Bessembinder stressed that “quantiti¢emna these markets|.]” (Tr. at 1493.) Put
differently, Professor Bessembinder testified that,

[t]he relevance of a spoofirgjrategy is that the entof the spoof orders on one

side of the market creates what can e kthink has been termed an imbalance,

an imbalance in the limit order book. Iptausible, even likely, that people

observing the book . . . will interpret an imbalance in the book as a change in

supply and demand conditions in the marketsany imbalance on the buy side is

quite plausibly interpreted as increasingnd@d and vice versa. . . . You're trying

to generate a reaction, is the generahp@nd the order imbalance is the method

of generating the reaction. . . . A largebimance is more noticeable than a small

imbalance, other things equal. So . . .rgilees matter. . . . | think it's reasonable

that, in general, the bigg the imbalance, the malikely it's going to get a

reaction. . . . The market is unlikely to reexa fake that's too small to notice,
too subtle to notice.

(Tr. at 1464; 1493; 1558; 1843; 1848.) “[R]elatiwsmall quantities on the cancel side,” he
explained, “have little effect on the observaintdalance in the limit order book, are less likely
to lure other traders into respondi are less likely to be effectivas a spoofing strategy, and are

less threatening to market integrity.” (84, CFTC Exh. 95, at 12.) As such, Professor
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Bessembinder used Defendant Oystacldisplayed order quantities, among other
characteristics, to fir Defendant Oystacher’s order égdgrfor spoofing events. Doing so,
according to Professor Bessembinder, revealedttimacombined size of the cancel-side orders
placed by Defendant Oystacher was indeed verg leefgtive to the quantity of displayed orders
already in the limit order book #te event price or better[.] . In particular, the size of
[Defendant] Oystacher’s cancel-sidontract entriesanged from an average of 4.8 times as
large (E-Mini S&P 500 during April and May, 201#)17.0 times as larg&1Xx), 17.1 times as
large (Natural Gas)[,] and 18.8 times as lg@epper) as the quantiof orders already

displayed in the limit” Id. at 19.) As a result, Professor Bessembinder concluded, “the data
indicates that [Defendant] Oysther’s cancel-side order engril@ aggregate were large enough
to create very sharp imbalances in the limttesrdata observed by other market participants,
consistent with the spoofing hypothesisld. @t 20.)

Richard May, one of the CFTCinarket participant witnesseaso highlighted displayed
order quantities as a key element leading hilvel@ve that he had observed spoofing. Indeed,
Mr. May testified thatthe addition oflarge size” is the “single bigg# thing that [was] going
on” in the trading he reported to the CFT@r. at 89, emphasis added.) Displayed order
guantities are important to Mr. May and Citadeallgorithms “because it low [they] estimate
what true buying and selling interest is. Tharkets work—basically, if there are more buyers
than sellers, the pricg® up. If there are more sellers tHauyers, the prices go down. And the
only way [they] have to gaugehether there are more buyerssetlers is by looking at the
displayed order sizes to bugidathe orders to sell.”ld. at 208.) Mr. May explained that
Citadel’s “trading strategieslyeon book pressure and the bookgsure is determined by the

amount of buying and selling interesplayed in the market.”ld. at 50.) “So, if | believe that
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someone is adding fake size in order to misiggrebuying and sellingterest,” he concluded,
“I know we are going to have a problem/fd.(at 50-51.) Explaining éhtrading behavior he
found suspicious, Mr. May recounted that “the amount of size being added accounted for more
than the rest of the market combinedld. @t 24.)
2. Defendant Oystacher’s Iceberg Usage

In addition, Defendant Oystacher’s iceberder usage affected his trading size and,
particularly, any displayed imbalance irs timit order book. According to Professor
Bessembinder, “when the iceberg option is not used, we know that the order was fully displayed
to the market. If the icebeqption is used, only a portion tfe order is displayed to the
market.” (d. at 1530.) Further, “one way to increase $ize of an order imbalance is to fully
expose, to not use the iceberg optiorid. &t 1850.)Usingicebergs, however, can reduce the
luring effect of any displayed imbalance for 8ane reasons—the contracts in iceberg orders
are not displayed to the rest of the market ingtead, are concealed. “What's displayed is most
relevant, | think, yeah, by far what — the dispthymbalance. That's what others can readily
react to. So, it's the displayed imbada that's the most relevant.id( at 1853.) Consequently,
Professor Bessembinder highlighted that, inadercircumstances, using icebergs can be
antithetical to a spoofing scheme. “[G]oing bagkhe sports analogytie explained, “if your
opponent doesn’t see your fakés ot going to work. Peopldon’t react to what they don't
detect. If the order imbalancekiy, but the iceberg function is ustdhide most of the size, it's

unlikely you're going to get a reaction. Peogtm’t react to what they can’t see.ld.(at 1529.)
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3. Defendants’ Self-Implemented R&trictions Effectively Address
Defendant Oystacher’s Trading Size

Defendants’ size restrictions limit Defend@ystacher’s abilityo “bait” market
participants with a displageorder imbalance by restrio Defendant Oystacher’s order
guantities and increasy his iceberg usage.

Specifically, the “Dynamic Max Quantity &rice” compliance tool sets a cap on
Defendant Oystacher’s trading siaka particular price levelThe aggregate sum of Defendant
Oystacher’s order quantities at gorece level cannot amount to ampore than ten percent of the
average quantities displayed in the order bodkesecond, third, and fourth price levels on
both the market’s bid and offer sides. If theerage contract quantitisplayed in the order
book is one thousand contractdla six best price levels, excluding the BBO, for example,
Defendant Oystacher can onlyapé orders for a maximunggregate sum of one hundred
contracts at one price level. When Defendaystacher’s total orded contracts breach the
tool’s implemented cap at a particular priceele the excess contracstomatically transform
into iceberg orders with conceal size and lower queue priority.

Further, the “Dynamic Max Quantity Btice Tool” works in conjunction with
Defendants’ self-implemented “Max Order SEenctionality” tool andLarge Order Splitter
Tool.” Rather than limit Defendant Oystachestsler size at a price level, however, these two
compliance tools restrict Defendant Oystacher’s order size on an individual order basis.
Specifically, the “Max Order Size Functionalitigol sets a cap on the size of any one of
Defendant Oystacher’s orders ug@bsolute numbers, as opposegercentages. In other
words, if Defendant Oystacher places an ofdea contract quantity that exceeds a pre-set cap,
the excess contracts automaticatgnsform into an iceberg order. The “Large Order Splitter

Tool” limits Defendant Oystachertsading size by splitting orders thilarger contract quantities
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into three smaller orders. If Defendant Oystagilaces an order for nine hundred contracts, for
example, and there is a pre-set cap on eatdr @f two hundred contects, the “Large Order
Splitter Tool” would split the ater into three orders for & hundred contracts each, and the
“Max Order Functionality” tool would automatlly make each order display only two hundred
contracts, converting the remaigione hundred contracts into aeberg order. In sum, these
three compliance tools function together ttoauatically restrict Defendant Oystacher’'s
displayed order size and queue priority on bgbhiee level and individuabrder basis, thereby
restricting his ability tananipulate the market.

The CFTC contends that Defendant “Oystadfa@er still enter ords magnitudes larger
than the BBO—indisputably the most importéevel traders consider and what the market
participants complained about here. He casalbecause Defendants configured the tool to
calculate the ‘norm’ based on theerage of three price levelsrayfrom the BBO (which are
typically factors larger than the BBO) calculatackr a ten second period[.]” (R. 175-1 at 37.)
The quantity at the BBO, however, “tends to beertost fluid or volatile.” (Tr. at 2377.)
Professor Fischel agreed, expiag that “prices are moving alver the place, which is what
volatility means—and particularly when you’realing with such narrow intervals between the
BBO on the trade and the cancel side[Jd. @t 2216.) Although th€EFTC alleges that the
contract quantities at the BBO are “typically” dleathan the other price level quantities, Mr.
O’Connor credibly notes that thegn also “match or be equaldoeven greater than prices
away.” (d.) Accordingly, the BBO condct quantities may serve as a poor baseline for a tool
meant to establish a maximum cap on Defen@ystacher’s displayed order size based on

surrounding quantities. The currg¢abl provides more certainty.
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Further, the CFTC specifically allegesdaProfessor Bessembinder demonstrated, that
Defendant Oystacher entered yullisplayed, passive orders ‘@tnearthe prices of the highest
existing order to buy or the lowest existing arttesell (the BBO).”(R. 20-1 at 18, emphasis
added.) Indeed, the CFTC stressed that ikfet Oystacher’s “spootirders near the BBO
were intentionally “passive,” tavoid execution and market riskd “[Defendant] Oystacher
also placed the cancel (spoof) ord@rsuch a manner to reduce tisk of execution before he
wanted to flip by making them passive ordiaat would rest (get in line) behind existing
orders.”) Notably, the CFTC defines “passiorders as those “placed at the same/orse
price than [the BBO].” Ifl. at 12, emphasis added.) Thusngghe price levels near the BBO
appropriately ensures Defendant Oystachedgiosizes mirror the stounding order quantities
in the limit order book. In addition, the compice tool does not “include [Defendant
Oystacher’s] orders into the average” of thge $ix price level quarites, excluding the BBO.
(Tr. at 2420.) “So, [it] only include[s] whateh . . rest of the market is showingld.{
Therefore, the quantities the tool uses toriedbefendant Oystacherlmaximum order cap are
even smaller than the aggregate queestitlisplayed in the limit order book.

Finally, even if Defendant Oystacher is sillle to enter orders of a magnitude capable
of luring other market participants, agt@FTC contends, the “Delayed Replace for
Cancel/Replace Tool” would limit Defendant Oystathability to successfully engage in the
charged spoofing scheme. As Mr. O’Connor akpd, “that’'s where thdelay—the mandatory
delay—that | created and put into places comesdffaxt. So, even if [Defendant Oystacher]
were to place a maximum [order] of 274 [contracts]at the best offer . . .even if he were to
cancel those and become a buyer at that prieegrik-second delay would add that interval so

the market can see that interest leave the markiel) This one-second delay “back-up” tool
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addresses Professor Bessemhiisdsoncern that Defendant &acher’s “cancellation and the
entry of the opposite-direction order. often had exactly the same time stamp[.] . . . The very
large majority of the cases, the orders ontthesides had the same or . . . one millisecond
difference in their time stamps.'Id( at 1480-81.) As a result, the “Dynamic Max Quantity at
Price Tool” is not toothless. Instead, it succagibgfunctions, together with Defendants’ other
tools, to restrict Defendd Oystacher’s trading.

B. Trading Speed Restrictions — The “Switch”

Defendant Oystacher’s trading is alsbect to significant, self-imposed speed
restrictions, encumbering his atylto “switch” the market antdenefit from the charged scheme.
Specifically, Defendants’ self-imposed spe@itations target Defendant Oystacher’s “flip
speed.”

1. Defendant Oystacher’s Flip Speed

Similar to displayed order size, a traddlis speed is fundamental to the charged
conduct. Indeed, the CFTC has highlighted Ddént Oystacher’s flip speed as an important
factor in both the CEA and CFTC Regulatdmarges. Describing their “manipulation”
Regulation charge, the CFTC highlighted ti2¢fendants’ use of the [wash blockerMiotually
simultaneouslgancel their spoof orders afiigh to aggressively take &hother side of the market
(and trade with those induced to enter the makehe initial orders theganceled), constitutes
employment of a device, scheme, artifieecontrivance thawas both deceptive and
manipulative.” (R. 1 at 29, emphasis adddglyther, the CFTC illustrated that Defendant
Oystacher’s order speed was integral todi@rged spoofing scheme, calling it the “second leg
of his deceptive scheme.” (R. 175-1 at 3Bhje CFTC further explaed that “Defendants’

pattern of placing visible passivep(f) order(s) for a large numbef contracts, at or near the
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best bid or offer price, thesimultaneously canceling them and flipping to aggressively take the
other sideof the markeat the same or better price dentosues their intent, at the time they
placed them, to cancel these sporfers prior to execution.” (R. 1 at 28, emphasis added.)
Indeed, according to the CFTC, é2ndants’ cancellation of thpaof orders and ‘flip’ to the
other side happenadmost simultaneously, taking placel@ss than or equal to 5 milliseconds
(i.e. thousandths of a second)d. at 18, emphasis added.) Spieaily, the CFTC explained,

[Defendant] Oystacher chose to confighre [wash blocker] teancel the resting

(i.e., spoof) orders. He then exploitea thivash blocker] by deliberately placing

orders in the opposite direction of his cah(spoof) orders, which he knew would

virtually simultaneouslygancel the spoof orders withsingle keystroke (the

‘flip’). Deliberately exploiting the [wash blocker] in thisanner (rather than

employing it as a failsafe) allowed [Defendant] Oystachdigenore quickly

than he could otherwise manually entereav order and theindividually cancel

multiple (spoof) orders that were alreadgtieg. . . . [B]lecause there are inherent

delays with the market updates providednarket participants and because of the

speed with which order messages entemtiarket (sometimes referred to as

‘latency’), [Defendant] Oystacher’'s mise of the [wash blocker] cancelled and

placed flip orderdeforeother market partipants (including algorithmic traders)

had time to recognize that [Defendant]stacher’s cancel (spoof) orders did not

reflect genuine interest. This allowggefendant] Oystacher’s aggressive flip

orders to trade against them.
(R. 20-1 at 15, emphasis added.) It is clearfleiendant Oystacher’s flippeed was integral to
the charged conduct. It enabled him to biefm the cancelled orders by trading on the
opposite side of the market before other mapketicipants had time teespond to his cancelled
orders. The “Delayed Replace foancel/Replace Tool” limits this aspect of the trading activity.

Professor Bessembinder also describedntipertance of Defendant Oystacher’s flip
speed in the charged scheme’s effectiven€Bsis matter,” he noted, “focuses specifically on
‘flips,” defined as the cancdlan of one or more orders (cancel side of flip) andetbsentially

simultaneougntry of one or more opposite-direction ordgrade side of flips) at the same price

or a more aggressive (higher for newly entenaygl drders or lower for mely entered sell orders)
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price.” (R. 134, CFTC Exh. 95, at 3, emphasis added.) “[F]lips that involved a longer time
horizon between cancelation andpopite-side order enti(to the extent that such exist),”
Professor Bessembinder explained, “would likelydss effective as gpoofing strategy, since
such delays would potenliigallow traders who had been foolbg the spoof orders to react to
their cancelation.” (R. 134, CFTEXh. 95, at 10.) Instead, Professor Bessembinder “observed
that the cancellation and the entry of the oppositecstion order . . . often had exactly the same
time stampl.] . . . The very laggnajority of the cases, the ord@n the two sides had the same
or ... one millisecond difference in their timaraps.” (Tr. at 1480.) Given the flip speed,
market participants did not have enough time to react to Defendant r&azancellations.

Mr. May illustrated this point. As a markearticipant, Citadel suffered from Defendant
Oystacher’s flip speeds. Spkecally, according to Mr. May,

[tlhere are latencies with the CME markgtdates, meaning thttere is a certain

minimum amount of time that lapses before we receive another update so multiple

actions get bundled together by the twesee the information. In the [spoof

events] that | observed, the cancellationsenfellowed by an aggressive order at

the same price in éhopposite directiowithin a few millisecondsvhich was less

than the time it took us (and all other gaipants), to send an order in response

to the cancellations, and have tlmtler show up in the market data . The

spoofing activity appeared signed to trick us sinate cancellation and

subsequent trade occurred without antervening market updates, which meant

that our algorithms could not reaonce we realized that the build-up of orders

did not reflect genuine inteseto trade. . . . [W]hileve always want to trade on

orders we put in the market, we cannot do so profitably when the order book does

not reflect genuine interest.
(R. 20-5, May Afdvt. at 11 19, 32, emphasis addeel;alsdTr. at 56) (“[T]he message to [flip]
trade would have already been sent by [tie¢ we saw the size cancelled. So, even if we
[reacted], we were still going to be behind whatewessage to [flip] trade had been sent. . . . So

by the time | see the [cancellati and flip], even if | see,ithe action happened hundreds of

microseconds ago.”) As a result, Mr. May uflgdspeeds as a limitingriteria to develop the
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“Pull-Swipe Detector,described in detaillove, that his team used to collect the data
underlying their complaint.Id. at 1 21.)

2. Defendants’ Self-Implemented R&trictions Effectively Address
Defendant Oystacher’s Trading Speed

Defendants’ self-imposed trading-spédiaditations effectively hinder Defendant
Oystacher’s ability to successfully “switch,’ meving his ability to cpitalize on the charged
scheme’s economic benefit. Specificallye tiDelayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool”
implements a “speed bump,” delaying Defendapstacher’'s wash blocker functionality. When
Defendant Oystacher enters ordatrshe same price or bettmympared to his own opposite-side
resting orders, triggering his wka blocker, this compliandeol imposes a one-second delay
between the time the wash blockancels the resting ordensdathe time the wash blocker
recognizes and administers any of the neses. In additionthe “Reduce Prior to
Cancel/Replace Tool” reduces tmount of orders the wash blocker will cancel at one time.
Put differently, when it is triggered, the wasbcker cancels a portion of the opposite resting
orders, waits until the market registers this edlation, and then cancels the remaining resting
orders, preventing Defendant Oystacher’s gguidced orders from executing with his own
resting orders. Overall, DefenttaDystacher’s trade speed redidns increase the time between
his cancellation and replacement order entrieslamadverall time it takes to cancel orders in
general. In other words, they dgl@efendant Oystacher’s “flip speed.”

The CFTC’s implication that a one secondhgles too short is unavailing based on the
evidence presented during the hearing. Spetifiche CFTC argues that “[tjhe one second
delay only serves to potentialbyotect the sub-set of traderfevcan ingest, process, and react
to information in less than a second from beaigen advantage of[.] (R. 175-1 at 38.) The

evidence illustrates that onec®ond is sufficient for other market participants to react to
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Defendant Oystacher’s cancellations before etieg with Defendant Oystacher’s opposite-side
order entries. Indeed, Professor Bessembitwdeuld say there’s no quien that an algorithm
can process information and . . . react to it eanacel within a second.{(Tr. at 1667.) Notably,
according to Professor Bessembinder, “[t]he literature has documented that a substantial
proportion (in many cases the majority) of orded trading activity in modern electronic
financial markets is attributabte ‘algorithmic traders[.]” (R. 20-4, CFTC Exh. 94, at 7.)
Indeed, according to Professor Fischel, “fagimarkets are among tm®st active and rapidly
changing markets in the world, where there’s tamsamounts of new farmation appearing at
speeds that some of us who aretnaders in this market, franklhave a hard time appreciating
because we typically don’t make decisiorst tipuickly.” (Tr. at 2131-32.) Mr. May, from
Citadel, corroborated this poinAccording to Mr. May, market participants in tB& Market in
2013 could react within “less than a couple milliseconds” after the market’s engine distributed
market data. I¢. at 183.) Moreover, by 2015, Mr. May assdrthat market participants were
able to react to market data within three heddand fifty “microseconds,” or millionths of a
second. Ifd. at 184.) In addition, aocding to a study focused on “Anticipatory Traders and
Trading Speeds” conducted, in part, by CFT(layees, both manual and algorithmic traders
were able to react within five hundred midleonds. (Def. Exh. D55, Raymond P. H. Fishe,
Richard Haynes, & Esen Onuknticipatory Traders and Trading Speddar. 26, 2015, at 28)

(“In fact, these data revetiiat 32 manual traders haareerage cancellation speeds less than one
secondwith eleven of theskess than one-half a secand . Certainly there are more

algorithmic tradersvith these speedss the comparable counts are 130 and 268, respectively.”)
(emphasis added).) Finally, as noted egriver O’Connor referred to one second as an

“eternity” in the futures markst (Tr. at 2066.) Thus, by adding a one second delay between
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Defendant Oystacher’s cancellations and opposike-@ider entries, market participants will
have time to react to Defendant Oystacheascellations and avoid executing with his opposite-
side orders. In other words, theol helps to prevent the “switch.”

Alternatively, the CFTC arggethat the “Delayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool”
“applies only when the cancel/replace functionality is activated, which provides an opportunity
for a demonstrably adaptable professional tréidefDefendant] Oystcher to devise an
alternate method for carrying out the secondlelgis deceptive scheme.” (R. 175-1 at 38.)
This argument is essentially a éne possibility” of a future vialtion that only “serves to keep
the case alive.Di Mucci, 879 F.2d at 1498 (quoting. T. Grant. Cq.345 U.S. at 633). The
CFTC's case revolves, in part, around Defendaydtacher’s reliance on the wash blocker’s
cancel/replace functionalityndeed, both the CEA and Regulation 180.1 charges focus on
Defendant Oystacher’s use of this tool. Trars; serious self-implemented corrective measure
shouldfocus on Defendant Oystacher’s use of the vistker, rather than raise suspicion when
it does.

Finally, the CFTC argues that the speed pudoes not cure the unlawful spoofing and
manipulation resulting from fake orders being esmten the market in #hfirst place.” (R. 175-1
at 38.) The CFTC’s argument, however, is misiapp The entered fake orders pertain to the
“bait,” or the initial market participant manipulation neetie@ngage in a successful spoofing
scheme. As explained above, the “Dynamic Naer Quantity at Pree Tool” addresses this
leg of the charged scheme. The “Delayed Replace for Cancel/Replace Tool,” on the other hand,
addresses the “switch,” or the virtually simultanefhipsorders that made such “baiting” fruitful.
The two tools must be viewed in the aggredpieause they function together to address the

“bait and switch.”
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In sum, despite Defendants’ past ilmper trading activitied)efendants’ self-
implemented compliance tools, along with the @sumitations set forth below, restrict their
ability to engage in spoofing activities pesially for the short duration until tri&l Significantly,
Defendant Oystacher is currentgly trading on two exchangesdis limited to trading on only
those exchanges until after timal. Given these factors, preliminary injunction is
inappropriate at this time, and the Court denies the CFTC’s mi@tibnorder to ensure that
Defendants maintain all of the tools that are Itlasis of the Court’s ruling, however, the Court
orders the following:

1. Between the date of this Opinion and doaclusion of the trial, Defendants must
maintain all of these trading surveillanceoes and compliance taoll) “Execution vs.
Inside Market 50 Percent Report,” 2) the &€xtion vs. Inside 90 Percent Report,” 3) the
“Order Bias Report,” 4) the “Max Order Sigenctionality,” 5) the “Large Order Splitter
Tool,” 6) the “Reduce Prior t€ancel/Replace Tool,” 7) thdax Quantity at Price Tool,”
8) the “Dynamic Max Quantity at Prideool,” and 9) the “Delayed Replace for
Cancel/Replace Tool.” The trading surveittarreports and compliance tools must be in
effect at all times. If Defendants seelattd any new tools, they must first seek the
Court’s permission.

2. Mr. O’Connor, 3Red’s Chief Compliance Officenust continue to monitor Defendant
Oystacher’'s compliance with the trading retions and ensure that these restrictions
remain in effect.

3. Defendant Oystacher’s trading is limitedth@se two markets in which he currently
trades: the CME’s 1) E-Mirtstandard & Poor’s 500 Stocki€& Index Futures Contracts
market (the “ES market”) and 2) Ten Yé&aiNote Treasury Futures market (the “ZN
market”). He may not trade in any othetuites markets without the Court’s permission.

4. Mr. O’'Connor must file a sworn affidavit with the Court on the first of every month
between the date of this Opinion and the casiolu of the trial affirming that all of these
trading restrictions and compliance toolsmegn in place and that neither Defendant

9 The Court is also mindful that many of the charged trades are from 2011-2013, and thaiGhea@Ed some

time to bring this motion.

0 The Court is aware that Defendants only recently implemented the relevant compliance tools iy E8hfia

“In the event that in the future plairftdeems it necessary to seek an injunctia the basis of what appear to be
renewed violations by . . . [D]efendant, this Court is not without power to re-bigerase and to consider the entire
record herein, insofar as any practic¢@efendant is identical or akin to that which is the subject matter of this
suit.” Mitchell v. Stewart Bros. Constr. Cd.84 F. Supp. 886, 902 (D. Neb. 1960) (citMigchell v. Vagabond
Coach Mfg. Cq.234 F.2d 261, 262 (6th Cir. 1956)).
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Oystacher nor 3Red have violated any einth A violation or mdification could result
in the Court revisiting its deniaif the prelimirary injunction.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court derthe CFTC’s motion for a preliminary

injunction.

DATED: July 12, 2016 ENTERED

A e

AMY J. ST. gEu
UnitedStatedDistrct CourtJudge
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